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Wednesday, November 30, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

The Board sits today on the matter of an application filed February 10th, 2010 by Natural Resource Gas Limited.  The Board assigned file number EB-2010-0018 to the application.  The application sought approval for a revenue requirement and rates for the 2011 rate year and for the approval of a four-year incentive regulation mechanism for the periods 2012 to 2015.

The Board issued a decision and order on December 6th, 2010 that determined rates for the 2011 rate year effective October 1st, 2010.  The Board also accepted NRG's request to address the incentive regulation mechanism component of the application for 2012 and beyond and certain other discrete issues in a second phase of the proceeding.

NRG filed a revised IRM plan on May 6th, 2011.  On July 18th, 2011 Energy completed its phase 2 filing requirements by filing an independent system integrity study that identified alternatives to maintaining system pressure in NRG's southern service area, as opposed to purchasing gas from the related company.

In Procedural Order No. 8, the Board made provision for a technical conference followed by a settlement conference.  That technical conference was held on September 26th, 2011, followed by a settlement agreement.  The participants in the settlement agreement included the applicant, VECC, IGPC, and Board Staff.

NRG filed the settlement agreement on November 11th, 2011.  NRG and the parties were able to reach a settlement on two of the three issues before the Board in phase 2 of the proceeding.

The issue that remains unsettled is the appropriate price for gas purchased from NRG Corp., a related company.  The Board issued Procedural Order No. 9 on November 16th, establishing today's date for an oral hearing of the remaining issue.

I'll take appearances now, please.
Appearances

MR. KING:  Richard King, counsel for NRG.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. King.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Quesnelle, Mr. Sommerville.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Khalil Viraney.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar.

As far as the process going forward this morning, I understand we obviously have the settlement agreement, a proposed settlement agreement, before us, and it certainly makes sense to deal with that issue first.

Mr. King, do you want to address the Panel on that particular area?

MR. KING:  Sure.  The settlement agreement was filed November 11th with the Board.  It covers the IR mechanism which was agreed to between the parties, which is -- to make a long story short, essentially the current IRM used by electricity distributors with one modification; namely, that the stretch factor is .1 percent greater.

And it also -- the settlement agreement also dealt with two non-IRM issues; namely, the settlement of the IGPC period costs -- those are the maintenance costs of the pipeline dedicated to serve IGPC -- and settlement of the regulatory costs.

And the settlement of the regulatory costs is really a consequent matter from settling these other matters.  And there's really only, I think, one issue to speak to with respect to that.  And it all turns on the timing of when rates for NRG will be made effective and the regulatory costs in the settlement agreement, we had all written into the agreement that rates would be effective December 1st, 2011, which is two months after the start of fiscal -- NRG's fiscal 2011, so we had contemplated spreading out the costs, the regulatory costs agreed to, over the remaining 34, as opposed to 36-month term.

Given that we won't make December 1st, I think the proposal is that we would spread the regulatory costs out over 33 months, based on a January 1, 2012 effective date for rates.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  On that last item, Mr. King, have you had communications with the other parties to the settlement agreement prior to now?

MR. KING:  Briefly.  We spoke about it about five minutes before we --


MR. MILLAR:  From Board Staff's perspective I can say we have, and that sounds -- that sounds good to us.  In fact, we were the ones who initially raised it.

I should also add that there will also be a short stub period.  I think the settlement agreement specifies that the actual IRM rates are effective October 1st.  Of course, we're probably looking at a January 1st implementation date, so there will be a three-month stub.  Presumably that would be dealt with through a small rate rider or something of that nature.  Obviously we would -- that would be -- I may have the dates wrong.  Regardless, there may be a small rate rider for a stub period between the effective date and the implementation date for the rates themselves, as opposed to this 34-month regulatory costs issue.

I think all that can be dealt with in the rate-order phase, but we thought we should bring it to the Board's attention here, because it's not expressly addressed in the settlement agreement.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, on this particular point?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Thank you.

I think, if I can summarize my understanding, in the normal course NRG's rates would change effective October 1st, because that would be their rate year.  As per the agreement, they agreed to an effective date two months later than that, which is essentially forgoing two months of rate increase.  It would have been December 1st rates, and that's part of the agreement, so we've agreed to that.

In that context there's a mechanism there to address the increase in the -- or the recovery of regulatory costs, which isolates those costs from this two-month shortening of their rate year, so that's why the 34 months comes in.  The additional problem we have now is that, because of the timing, the actual effective date of the rates, the actually rate change won't happen until probably January, so the question becomes --


MR. QUESNELLE:  The implementation date.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The implementation date; right.  So then if we don't change the settlement in any way, what would happen would be, it is an effective date of December 1st, but one month or so of forgone increase in order to keep the company held whole.

That's the issue as I understood it.  The proposal to then change the treatment of the regulatory costs was -- is new to me.  They may have talked about it, but it may have heard -- 33 months as somebody is walking out the door.  But I think that if in theory all they have to do is track the one month or so of forgone increase and they will be held whole, the question becomes how material is one month, because based on the inflator that we would project for the rates they're getting 10 percent -- they would be foregoing something like one-twelfth of an increase based on an actual implementation to January.  But I don't -- I haven't done the calculation.

So, I mean, all that really has to be done is a rider to collect one month of forgone revenue, and they will be held whole.  If they want to do something else, maybe you can explain to me a little more --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there costs associated with changing the billing to that extent, which should --


MR. KING:  Which should outweigh?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- be considered in terms of the materiality of all that?

MR. KING:  I don't know the materiality.  Yes, maybe I'm not understanding.  I thought we were willing to -- we were willing to forego the one month under the IRM.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So the one month --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That wasn't -- If what you are saying is if we change the settlement agreement -- the proposal to change the settlement agreement to amortize the costs, instead of 34 months -- the regulatory costs from 34 to 33, and in exchange we'll simply go with the effective -- an implementation date and then simultaneously with the effective date of something like January --


MR. KING:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- I would just need to see the effect of that.   I think it might be minuscule, and I should probably agree to it, but I should see the number before --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, can we deal with that as Board Staff has suggested, that through the rate tariff -- that will be whatever -- we will -- my Panel Member and I will, you know, confer on the settlement proposal itself, but if we are to agree on those terms that have just been spoken of this morning, it could be reflected in the rate tariff then, and -- with the ability to comment on that.  Is that satisfactory to all parties?

MR. KING:  That's fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Somerville, anything...?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm not sure if --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have anything else on the settlement, Mr. --


MR. MILLAR:  I did have one very minor other point.  I'm not sure if Mr. King has finished his presentation.

MR. KING:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  It's just a very minor point.  There is a settlement on the amounts in the pipeline maintenance cost deferral account, so I think that's a completely settled issue.  What the agreement doesn't specify is what happens to the deferral account itself, and it's my understanding that that deferral account will no longer be necessary, because it's not going to be cleared and the money stays where is it, essentially.


But as I understand it, there's no need for that account to continue, just as a bookkeeping matter.  Unless there is an objection from NRG, I would think that going forward that account would cease to exist.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that the understanding of the applicant?

MR. KING:  It is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll take the proposal under advisement, and provide our finding on the acceptance of the proposal later on this morning, but if we carry on with the outstanding matter, it would be the next order of business.

Unless there is other preliminary matters, Mr. King, if you want to take it from here?

MR. KING:  Sure.  I would like to introduce the witness panel for the system integrity gas issue.

Starting, I guess, closest to you is Mr. Bob Cowan, co-chair of NRG.  You will have seen him before.

To his right is Mr. Tony Chan.  He is senior project engineer at Aecon, responsible for the system integrity study.  I'll come back to him in a second.

To his right is Laurie O'Meara, controller of NRG, and she is familiar to you, as well, from phase 1 of this proceeding.

And then nearest me is Mr. Tony Graat, who is the secretary-treasurer of NRG Corp. and also holds a position with NRG Limited, the utility, and really is the best person to speak to the arrangements, current and historical, with respect to Corp. and Limited, which is how I refer to them.

In terms of Mr. Chan, I've provided his CV at tab 1 of the book of authorities that I sent around yesterday, and Monday evening.

Mr. Chan is a professional engineer, with over the 25 years of experience in the utility business and the gas business, starting in 1980, where he spent 17 years at ATCo Gas in Alberta.  And his CV sets out more specifics of his gas experience at TransCanada, and then independently at Three Streams Engineering.

He took up the position at Aecon back in Ontario back in 2009.

And unless there are questions on his CV, I would expect he can be qualified as an expert with respect to gas pipeline design and engineering.

MR. MILLAR:  There's no objections from Staff.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro?

That's acceptable, Mr. King.

MR. KING:  Then I think the panel can be sworn.
NATURAL GAS RESOURCES LIMITED - PANEL 1

Robert Cowan, Sworn


Laurie O'Meara, Sworn


Tony Graat, Sworn


Tony Chan, Sworn


MR. KING:  The only other thing, I guess, is whether we want to give exhibit numbers to some of the documents that have been floating around in the past couple of days.  I have three, I guess.  One is the book of authorities.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We can do that.  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I think since this is phase 2, we can restart the numbering, so that would be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  BOOK OF AUTHORITIES.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The second document is the list of MNR wells that Mr. Miller sent out last evening.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This is a document I had not yet provided the Panel, but we have copies here.  I'll be asking some questions about this.

This is, as Mr. King says, a list of MNR wells, and it's Exhibit K1.2.  I should clarify it's an MNR list of wells, not a list of MNR wells.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MNR LIST OF WELLS.

MR. KING:  The third document is the gas purchase agreement between Corp. and Limited.  The one -- Mr. Millar asked if we had a copy of it, and you asked later in the day yesterday and people had already left the office.  I just grabbed what I had in my office.

It is unsigned.  It is dated October 1st, 2009, which is the right time period, and it's my understanding that this is the form of agreement that exists between the parties, so we should treat it as the agreement.  But it's unsigned simply because that's what I could dig out of --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps you could have your witnesses accept it as such, Mr. King?  If that assists.

MS. O'MEARA:  When this agreement was drafted, it was superseded by the two letters that are in the Exhibit K1.1, tab 4 at the very back.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps we could explain --


MS. O'MEARA:  This is our standard agreement.  The 2008 one is signed, and then when it came to the issue of the pricing mechanism that was being used, if you recall, that is when the agreement was subsequently adjusted by these letters.

MR. QUESNELLE:  At tab 4 in the book of authorities or --?


MR. KING:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  There's two letters at the very end of that document.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Very good.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I think Mr. Buonaguro and I will be asking the witnesses questions about this, so that may clarify the issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I appreciate more context around that, but if they're --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I ask a grammatical question?  You said "superseded."  Are you saying that the two letters you point to supersede K1 point –-

MR. MILLAR:  It will be K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  Document provided by Mr. King entitled "Gas purchase agreement between NRG Corp. and NRG Limited."

MR. BUONAGURO:  Supersede K1.3, or K1.3 superseded the two letters?

MS. O'MEARA:  No, the letters superseded K1.3.  In other words, the standard agreement would have been K1.3, but then there was an issue with the pricing and the amount that NRG Corp. was requesting.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when we say "the agreement," the actual agreement is the two letters?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King, do you have any lead?

MR. KING:  I have none, sir.  The panel is open for questions.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I'm going to take the lead, Mr. Quesnelle.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Prior to taking the lead, Mr. Millar, I'm just wondering, Mr. King, if the witnesses will adopt the evidence that we are about to examine?

MR. KING:  Sure.  I'll go through each.
Examination by Mr. King


MR. KING:  Mr. Cowan, first to you.  You have before you the evidence in this proceeding related to the system gas integrity issue, namely Exhibit K1.1.

MR. COWAN:  I do adopt.

MR. KING:  Mr. Chan, you'll be testifying solely to your study that was completed for NRG, dated July 15, 2011; do you have a copy of that?

MR. CHAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  Do you adopt it as your evidence in proceeding?

MR. CHAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  It's true and accurate, to the best of your knowledge?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Ms. O'Meara, with respect to company's evidence in this proceeding on the system integrity gas, you have Exhibit K1.1 in front of you?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  And you believe it to be true and accurate to the best of your knowledge?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  And you adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes, I do.

MR. KING:  And I'm not sure what I do with Mr. Graat, to be honest.  He's not his -- it's not Limited's evidence.  It's Limited's evidence, and he's not here to speak on behalf of Limited, so it's not technically his evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll accept as your testimony, Mr. Graat, as the evidence being put forward on behalf of --?


MR. KING:  NRG Corp.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


MR. MILLAR:  I have divided my questions into questions for NRG Corp.; NRG Limited, which is the actual distributor; and some questions for Mr. Chan as well.  Obviously we have you all on the same witness panel, so to the extent people have information on questions I have for others, do feel free to chime in, but that's the way that I have divided the questions.

So I'll start with some questions for, I think, Mr. Graat for NRG Corp.  My first question may in fact be one that Mr. King chooses to address, and it's simply to make sure the record is clear on this issue.


We have, Mr. King, in a cover letter you provided yesterday with your book of authorities, a statement to the effect that NRG Limited and NRG Corp. are not technically affiliates for the purposes of the Board's Affiliate Relationships Code, but you accept that they are a -- they are related companies.  I'm just wondering if either Mr. Graat or Mr. King could describe the actual legal relationship between NRG Corp. and NRG Limited, just so that's clear on the record -- or any witness, for that matter.

MR. KING:  No, no, I'll -- the best explanation here is at tab 5 of Exhibit K1.1, which is NRG's response to an IR we received from IGPC back in the phase 1 part of this proceeding.  Essentially the board adopts the definition of "affiliate" that is used in the Business Corporations Act, which is essentially one of, where there is a parent -- a parent relationship between corporations or where there are sister corporations.

And essentially the Business Corporations Act definition of "affiliate" turns on the question of control, which has two aspects, a majority of the voting shares and the ability to appoint a majority of the board of directors.  That's essentially what control is.  That's what defines an affiliate for the purposes of the Business Corporations Act, and that is the definition adopted in the Affiliate Relationships Code.

The shares of Corp. are held by -- and you'll see from the question that IGPC asked, they had asked whether they are affiliates, and technically they're not affiliates.  The shares of Corp. and the shares of Limited are held by different corporate entities entirely, and they are both held by trusts, and the trusts also have different trustees.  So they are not in a parent-subsidiary relationship, obviously, and they are also not sister corporations or under the same control.

In -- this issue was raised in phase 1, and the Board made a finding, because one of the submissions of Board Staff in its final argument was to have NRG comply with the Affiliate Relationships Code, and the Board determined that that wasn't necessary.

And in part, none of this really means that much.  You'll see at the end of the interrogatory response that I insert a quotation right at the very end.  It's the third page at tab 5.  And it's a quote from me from the last rate case, which was EB or RP - I forget what you were using at the time - 2005-0544, the rate case that proceeded this one a few years ago.

And the issue -- this same issue came up, and we agreed at the time that for the purposes of setting rates it doesn't really matter, because for the purposes of setting rates the Board has to use its discretion to determine, you know, how rigorous it will be, in terms of scrutinizing any cost of the utility, and to the extent that a cost of the utility falls out of either a contract with an affiliate or a contract with an arm's length company - and we agreed that it's clearly not an arm's length company - that it probably would apply somewhat that the same type of rigour in assessing those costs under the contract.

So I'm not sure much, quite frankly, turns on it at the end of the day, but in terms of the pure corporate relationship, the two companies are each owned by different shareholders.  Both are owned by trusts, and the trusts also have different trustees.

The common denominator is essentially the beneficiaries are the same, and there has been over the years, you know, common employees, et cetera.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that, Mr. King.  And I'm sorry to have put you through that lengthy discussion.  I'm not attempting to suggest you actually are technically affiliates.  I think we are more or less in agreement on what the relationship is and what it means for the Board's regulatory purposes.  But I thought it would be helpful to the Panel to be reminded of the exact corporate relationship, so --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that point -- and that, Mr. King, you will appreciate why I'm asking this.  If one of your witnesses, perhaps Mr. Graat, could adopt your answer from an evidentiary point of view, I think that would be better than having it -- you're not technically in a position to be able to give evidence.

MR. KING:  No, but it -- okay.  I'm happy to have Mr. Graat adopt it.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes, I adopt it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Moving to some questions for, I believe, Mr. Graat -- Mr. Graat, is your microphone on?  There should be a -- you are sharing one with Ms. O'Meara, so be careful you don't turn each other's mics on and off.

Can you tell me how many active natural gas wells NRG Corp. currently has in NRG's service territory?

MR. GRAAT:  I believe it's 41.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't know that you need to pull it up.  In Mr. Chan's report there is a map -- in fact, it might be handy to all parties to have that around.  Mr. Chan's report, which was provided with the evidence, includes about halfway through -- the pages aren't numbered, but there is a map of NRG's service territory.  I believe it's appendix A to the report.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Appendix 1, to be clear, Mr. --


MR. MILLAR:  Appendix 1, I'm sorry.  Yes.  You've got the big copy.  I'm envious.  It is a little bit hard to read, but you can see there are black dots which signify NRG Corp. wells.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure if there is actually 41 of them there, but there is certainly a number.  That corresponds with where the wells actually are?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So are they by and large in the southern service area?

MR. GRAAT:  By and large, but there's some in other -- other areas.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it those ones just aren't marked on the map.  I only see them marked in the southern territory.

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, how many of these wells are recent, ones that have been developed in, say, the last five years or so, approximately?

MR. GRAAT:  Probably over 50 percent of them.

MR. MILLAR:  50 percent of the 40 or 50 percent of the --


MR. GRAAT:  50 percent of the 40, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So about 20.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And presumably these wells are all connected directly to NRG's distribution system?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know who paid for that hookup?  Was it NRG Corp. or NRG Limited or some combination of the two?

MR. GRAAT:  NRG Corp.

MR. MILLAR:  So you've got about 40 wells that you'd classify as active.  Are all of them typically providing gas to NRG all the time, or...?

MR. GRAAT:  They have from time to time, but not at this time.  In the past year and a half or two years it's been a different situation.

MR. MILLAR:  So approximately how many would be actively providing gas to the system --


MR. GRAAT:  Probably less than half.

MR. MILLAR:  And why is that?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, primarily because we had an order -- or the price has been set by the Board, which the price is unacceptable to NRG Corp.  That's why that is.

MR. MILLAR:  So --


MR. GRAAT:  So we're supplying them -- which we believe, the maximum or the minimum of gas that they require.  If they require gas because of it's an extremely cold winter or inclement weather or demand, then we'd have to turn the rest of those wells on.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, you'd have to turn them off?

MR. GRAAT:  No, we'd have to turn them on.  On, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  You are providing them currently with the --


MR. GRAAT:  The maximum amount that we believe they require at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  The minimum amount or the maximum?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, it's the minimum and the maximum. It's hard to say.  If it goes to 30 or 40 below tonight, it will be the maximum.

So we've had some very, I think, warm weather the last six, seven weeks, relative to last year, say, for instance.

But we had a large demand for some grain dryers, because it was a wet fall and more moisture in the crops and so on.

It's hard to determine whether it's the maximum or the minimum.  It is what's required, is what we are supplying.

MR. MILLAR:  And when you say "what's required", that's required to maintain system integrity?

MR. GRAAT:  System integrity, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  How long does it take to, if I can call it, ramp up gas production from a particular well?  What I mean by that is from the time you determine that a gas -– that a well should become active and provide gas to the system, how long does it take to actually make that happen?

MR. GRAAT:  It could take a number of weeks, depending on how much trouble the well is going to be, whether it's watered in or not, how long it has been shut in, and how hard we're trying to produce them, like how much volume we're trying to get out of them.

So you have to give it some lead time, and then hopefully everything works just about right, and so far it has, because we've had the wells on, and we've been testing them and been using some gas, whether we need it or not.

MR. MILLAR:  So would it depend on a well-by-well basis?

MR. GRAAT:  More or less.

MR. MILLAR:  Some would require a lead time of up to a week or two or even more?

MR. GRAAT:  It's hard to say.  Probably -- some of these wells we turned on two months ago.  So -- to be sure that they do operate, in case there's -- because you could have significantly colder weather than we've had in August.  There was lots of below-zero days in August.

MR. MILLAR:  In August?

MR. GRAAT:  In August, yes, at night.  Maybe not last year, but in prior years.  Many, many years.

So it's hard to determine what the program should be, other than we'd better be ready.  It's like having the snow ploughs on the overpasses before the storm instead of after it hits.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  Just to clarify, some wells need various amounts of lead time?

MR. GRAAT:  Others may not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there may be some that could provide more or less at the flick of a switch?  Is that --


MR. GRAAT:  No.  It would take a couple of weeks, but you can adjust them, turn them down and you can turn them up, and they are probably going to function reasonably well, if they have been tested and if they've been run to capacity or flowed to capacity.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have some wells that are producing; just not at full capacity, for example?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And those would be ones you could turn up relatively quickly?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  Thank you.

Now, the price you are seeking, I think Ms. O'Meara referred to the letter dated September 30th.  You might want to pull it up.  I guess it's at the end of tab 4, I think.  There's two letters at the very end of tab 4, one dated September 1st and one dated September 30th.

Do you have those?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  This is where you –- yes, it's tab 4 of NRG's book of authorities, K1.1.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The very end of that tab.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Three pages from the back and four pages at the back are two letters, one dated September 1st and one dated September 30th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  We have those.

MR. MILLAR:  The September 30th letter is the letter that sets out the price that NRG is prepared to provide gas for.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  How did you set on this price?

MR. GRAAT:  There's a number of factors; it's primarily it costs X number of dollars to drill a well and to finance and to inventory it, and to make sure it works and to do a number of things.  And we thought -- we believe that that is the price that we need, which is similar to the price that we were receiving prior to the price of gas, which comes from TransCanada, has been lowered dramatically.

MR. MILLAR:  Do I understand you to say that this price is more or less what is required to recover your costs?

MR. GRAAT:  From our point of view.  From NRG Corp.'s point of view.

MR. MILLAR:  I presume cost would include a rate of return or something like that, as well?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, I note I've just received this Exhibit K1.3 this morning.  This is your gas purchase agreement with NRG Limited.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If you turn to page 5, there is a price listed there, and I understand that this has been superseded by the September 30th letter, and I may have some questions about that in a moment.

But I see there the price is lower; not a whole lot lower, but it's $8 instead of --


MR. GRAAT:  One is MCF, and one is gigaJoules.  It's the same price.

MR. MILLAR:  So what would the conversion be?

MS. O'MEARA:  It's the same.

MR. GRAAT:  When I deal with it, it's MCFs, and when the new people deal with it, it's gigaJoules, and then there's other people that want cubic metres.

MR. MILLAR:  I do understand.  So I think the conversion is something like 1.05?

MR. GRAAT:  Anyway, for MCF, it's 84.

MR. MILLAR:  So the price is essentially the same?

MR. GRAAT:  Exactly the same in all of the agreements.

MR. MILLAR:  So I thought I heard Ms. O'Meara say the September 30th letter had superseded the gas purchase agreement.  If the price is the same, what has been superseded?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we took the position that we're no longer prepared to sell gas unless we got our price.  And we put NRG Limited on notice and said:  This is what we need and this is what we're going to do.  And it was agreed upon.


MR. MILLAR:  But wasn't that what the original contract already stated?  It has a price of -- I guess it has an identical price that you would sell for.  What -- has anything changed based on the September 30th letter?

MR. GRAAT:  It was an '09 agreement.  And this is an...

MS. O'MEARA:  Sorry.  I'm just looking at this in detail, and this is -- if you look, this was for the period October 1, 2008 to September 30th, 2009.

And as Richard mentioned, I think this was probably a draft.  It was unsigned.  And when we did the pricing methodology - because this is when this all came out about the pricing methodology - when we did the 10-day pricing that would have gone in the actual agreement, it would have been a lot lower.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe if I could take it back a step, is there a signed agreement like this gas purchase agreement, for the correct period?

MS. O'MEARA:  For the year prior.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But there is not one for the current period?

MS. O'MEARA:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Does this agreement apply at all?

MR. GRAAT:  The September 30th, '09 agreement, in my opinion, extends the arrangement that we have and states the price.  This is from '09 forward.

MS. O'MEARA:  The signed one we have is for 2008 and 2009, the 2009 fiscal year.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be this agreement?  K1 --


MS. O'MEARA:  No.  There's a signed one that we have for the year prior.

MR. GRAAT:  This came out of --


MS. O'MEARA:  Richard's, his --


MR. MILLAR:  His files, yes.

MS. O'MEARA:  His files.  So the purchase agreement dated October 1, 2008 would have been exactly the same as this.

MR. MILLAR:  As K1.3?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yeah, but it would be signed.

MR. MILLAR:  It would be signed?


MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.  And I do have that in our files back in the office.

MR. MILLAR:  What period would that agreement have extended --


MS. O'MEARA:  That would have been for the fiscal year ending 2009.  So October 1, 2008 to September 30th, 2009, so that's the last time a fully executed agreement was done.

When the '09 agreement would have been - this was obviously a draft - would have been done up, that's when the pricing became an issue, and the methodology, I think we've said in previous conferences, was when it came to light that the methodology being used was incorrect.  And the price would be a lot lower, and that's when NRG Limited went to NRG Corp. and said:  Well, this will be the price.  And they basically came back and said:  We cannot supply it.

So these letters were done up, too.

MR. MILLAR:  So K1.3 was never executed, but it is essentially, except for the dates, identical to the previous --


MS. O'MEARA:  The terms and everything, yes.  They're exactly the same.

MR. MILLAR:  But the previous agreement, the one from 2008, has expired; is that correct?

MR. GRAAT:  I think it's been extended by the letter of September 30th of '09.  That would be my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  But there's no separate executed agreement?  The sum total of the agreement specifically referring to the period beyond September 30th, 2009 would be the September 30th, 2009 letter?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is it NRG's position that this agreement continues to apply?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The terms of the agreement, the only thing that --


MR. GRAAT:  I believe so, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But there's no executed copy of that.

MS. O'MEARA:  I do have the --

MR. GRAAT:  -- executed copy --

MS. O'MEARA:  I do have the -- yes, I can get that.

MR. MILLAR:  That's for 2008?


MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But the --


MR. GRAAT:  I know, but the letter specifically indicates that we're prepared to continue with the arrangements.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps you could identify the signators to that letter?

MR. GRAAT:  Mr. Howley is the general manager, who is the -- of NRG, Jack Howley of NRG Limited.  John Camara is the construction manager of Ayerswood Developments, who participates in the Corp. wells and the managing of the Corp. wells.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So it's his correspondence that you're putting forward as binding --


MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- the Limited company to the contractual?


MR. GRAAT:  Yes.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Still with the September 30th letter, it references -- it says you've requested continued service of gas deliveries in the Bayham area.  If you have the map in front of you from Mr. Chan's report, are you able to indicate where the Bayham area is on that map?  I see there's a Bayham Station around the middle, on the eastern side of your service territory.  Is that the area we're talking about?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And there are 11 -- the September 30th letter lists 11 wells.  Are those 11 wells shown on this map?

MR. GRAAT:  I believe they are, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So do you know which ones they are?

MR. GRAAT:  No, I don't.  I could probably find out or pinpoint them.  But you've got to get a little more philosophical about how this all works.  You have to be very specific of this well, that well.  They said, We need gas, and we sent them a letter saying, This may be a requirement, and this is the terms that we are prepared to sell you the gas.

So if they were to have said -- which they probably did -- We need more gas or less gas, we would have supplied it under the same terms and conditions.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if those 11 wells feed through the Bayham Station?

MR. GRAAT:  No, they don't.

MR. MILLAR:  They don't.

MR. GRAAT:  Bayham Station is outside the -- Bayham is a Union station.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --


MR. GRAAT:  So it's the gas that Union supplies into the system.

MR. MILLAR:  So the 11 wells listed here, and I guess all of your wells, are directly connected to NRG's --


MR. GRAAT:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  -- distribution system?


MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  None of them run through Union or anyone else's --


MR. GRAAT:  No, they're not -- I think there's one or two that are on the other side of the franchise area, but by and large they are all in the franchise area.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you -- I think I know the answer to this, but have you on occasion sold gas to companies other than NRG Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  We -- a long time ago we moved a little bit of gas through the Greentree system, Greentree resources, I guess.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yeah, I think that was also in a prior conference we mentioned about the Greentree -- using Greentree transportation system to sell some gas to Union.  It was a very, very, very small portion.

MR. GRAAT:  And it was very difficult.

MR. MILLAR:  And indeed, I think the previous decision there was some discussion of that, the phase 1 decision -- it doesn't have to be turned up -- page 18 --


MS. O'MEARA:  Charging a transportation charge.

MR. MILLAR:  Exactly.  So it has happened in the past, certainly.  Are you currently selling any gas to anyone other than NRG?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And have you in the last, I don't know, 18 months?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MS. O'MEARA:  The last time we did was five or six years ago, whenever we mentioned it before.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. O'MEARA:  We haven't sold any since.

MR. MILLAR:  How many employees does NRG Corp. have?

MS. O'MEARA:  We've mentioned that in previous conference that there are no actual employees of NRG Corp.  Everything is done by contract.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And so you have Mr. Camara, I guess --


MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. GRAAT:  He spearheads all our construction activities, including the gas wells.

MR. MILLAR:  But no actual employees of the corporation?


MR. GRAAT:  No.  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Understood.

MR. GRAAT:  He would hire subcontractors to work on these wells.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, we've discussed the gas purchase agreement, both the full document and then the September 30th letter.  Is NRG Corp. actually required to provide gas to NRG Limited by the terms of these agreements?  For example, if NRG Limited agrees to pay 8.46 or whatever it is, does NRG Corp. have to provide the gas?

MR. KING:  Well, that's an interpretation of the contract.  I don't know that's a matter for the witness.  The contract says what the contract says under Article 2.

MR. GRAAT:  We have an obligation to supply them with gas, in our opinion.  That's what -- the contract was entered into.  That's what all our discussions have been, and that's what our verbal agreement is.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  That, I guess -- I guess we'll discuss in argument if there is an executed contract or not.

There's nothing in either the K1.3 or the September 30th about firm volumes or anything like that?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, there is not?

MR. GRAAT:  There is not, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So there's no firm volume requirement?


MR. GRAAT:  Well, I think I've tried to articulate it as best I could how that might work.  There is no estimate for firm volumes.  What we could do, we could say, You're going to need up to 5,000 MCF, so we're going to -- you're not going to use it all, so we're going to have a standby charge, because we have to have the wells on standby, so pay us a couple hundred thousand dollars a year and you can have whatever you want.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, whatever you want, I guess --


MR. GRAAT:  Without getting it, the gas.  Just to be on standby without doing any delivery.  So what our arrangement right now is that when they need gas we supply the gas without any standby charges.

MR. MILLAR:  But that assumes you have the gas.  I...

MR. GRAAT:  But we do have the gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, but there's nothing in the contract about how much gas you have to have available at any particular time.

MR. GRAAT:  Well, that's the point I'm trying to make.  We could put something in the contract, but then we would have to charge them for a standby charge.

MR. KING:  Again, this is arguing about what's in the contract or what's not in the contract.  It should be left to argument.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, we're just seeing this contract for the first time this morning, and I understand this is not even the executed contract.  But I can certainly ask Mr. Graat what he thinks the contract means.  Regardless, I'm more or less done with this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King, you did provide a witness that could speak to the issues that -- from the viewpoint of the Corp., and that's what I think is being explored.

MR. KING:  He was asking him what the contract says, though.  I mean, I understand if he is asking a question, What is your understanding about how the arrangement works.  But the contract now has an exhibit number.  It's a legal contract.  I don't know that it's a proper question to ask a legal opinion on what the contract interpretation is.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm prepared to move on.

If the Board does not -- obviously the Board doesn't have control over private contracts.  But if the Board tells NRG Limited that they can't pay more than a market rate, or let's assume something less than 8.46 a cubic metre, whatever the precise terminology is, what will happen then?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, a number of things could happen.  We would have to say, We're not going to supply the gas to you, and you figure it out, or we could say, We're going to spend $15 million or whatever it is and build a new pipeline - that will take two or three years - and charge everybody five, ten times what you are now paying.  We could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you wouldn't do that, right?  That would be NRG Limited, not NRG Corp.

MR. GRAAT:  No, NRG Limited would do that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's your position that if you can't get --


MR. GRAAT:  To us, my position is this, is that to put the pipeline in is, let's say, $200 a customer per year.  To buy the overage is about somewhere between 20, depending on what the volume is, and 30 cents an MCF.  So it's clearly a -- from a mathematical point of view there is no contest here about what's the better deal.  And NRG has been supplying the gas for a number of years successfully, maintained the integrity of the system, and supplied whatever needed to be supplied.

Now, because there is some thought that we can't be -- there can't be any self-dealing between companies, then even though the price is one-tenth of what it is, we can't accept that, and I find that very difficult to understand.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I don't think anyone would dispute that NRG Limited could buy gas from NRG Corp. at the going rate, at the market price.  Regardless, that's a matter for argument.

MR. GRAAT:  It's not for sale at the market price, and that's what somebody has to --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and I understand that.  So --


MR. GRAAT:  And the reason is because the price that NRG is willing to pay, NRG Limited is willing to pay is not -- is regulated to pay is not enough.

MR. MILLAR:  And absent a price of 8.46, you are unprepared to sell to NRG Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  That would be our position, unless somebody can tell us another good reason why we should spend the 12 or $15 million to put in a new pipeline, in order not to save thousands of dollars a year.

MR. MILLAR:  Aren't you selling to NRG Limited for less than 8.46 currently?

MR. GRAAT:  No, we're not.

MS. O'MEARA:  No.  The price actually we -- NRG Limited is paying is the $8.48.

MR. MILLAR:  It's just the amount you can recover from ratepayers is less than that?  You are paying 8.46; okay.

MS. O'MEARA:  But I think what Mr. Graat is saying is NRG Corp. -- I think your answer is:  What would Energy Corp. do?  They would shut in their wells.

Their opinion is that the cost right now to maintain those wells and their exploration of wells, we require -- they require $8.48.  Without that, they will shut in and they will wait, just like a lot of other gas producers.  Wait for the gas to increase, which they believe will happen.  And they have the ability to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.

MR. GRAAT:  If I can just add something, if you look at the history, the last five years of what the gas was paid for -- to supply NRG Limited by outside suppliers, and what NRG Limited paid NRG Corp. for the last five years, NRG Corp. underpaid NRG Limited $2.1 million, so --


MS. O'MEARA:  What we looked at is we looked at, in tab 3, the actual amount of price that NRG Limited paid for gas from Western and Parkway, plus the transportation.  We looked at that actual price, and we compared that to the price that we paid NRG Corp., and basically if you took the cumulative effect over five years, it was in excess of $2 million.

And I think what Mr. Graat is trying to say is NRG Corp. for quite a while has been quite satisfied at that 8.48.  They did not try and get above that and argue that you are paying third parties more than that during those years.

So there have been instances where, if you looked at that scenario, where they have been underpaid.

MR. MILLAR:  But you would agree with me it's NRG's Limited's responsibility to get gas as cheaply as they can?

MS. O'MEARA:  It's NRG Limited's responsibility to do what's best for the ratepayers.  In this case, you look at the cost-benefit of buying from NRG Corp. versus the cost-benefit of building a pipeline, which is the other alternative.

And if you look at the costs, I think we've clearly seen, and we pushed some numbers where it's run 175 to $200 on average per ratepayer for the pipeline per year, where you are looking at 25 to $50 for gas, the premium that you would pay for gas to purchase from NRG Corp.

So I think Mr. Cowan had said in previous conferences -- when asked what would you do if NRG Corp. asked for more than this, which was a concern -- is that obviously every scenario would look at the cost-benefit and what benefits the ratepayers.

MR. MILLAR:  And I agree with you, to the extent that you have a responsibility to act in the best interest of ratepayers, to pursue the cheapest option.

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.

MR. GRAAT:  And there will be a time where NRG Limited gas will be probably a bargain relative to system gas, which we buy from out west.  That's just around the corner.  I mean --

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, NRG Corp. gas will be –-

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And at times in the past, it has been?

MR. GRAAT:  Has been, yes.  So this is just a blip that –- unforeseen, and I think for everyone's benefit, except NRG Corp. is going to shut their gas in.  Like everybody -- not everybody, but a number of people have, because if you believe that gas is going to go up in price in two or three years, it's going to double or triple, then it's a fairly good return on your money not to do anything with the gas other than leave it in the ground.

And that's the argument.  NRG Corp. has an obligation to its shareholders to be prudent, just like NRG Limited has to shareholders and to the customers, the ratepayers.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. O'Meara, would you agree with me that absent the system integrity issue, you wouldn't buy gas from NRG Corp. at 8.46, or you wouldn't buy it for anything other than a market price or less?

MS. O'MEARA:  I'm probably not the one to answer that one.

MR. MILLAR:  Imagine there's no system integrity issue, in other words.  You --

MR. GRAAT:  Well, then we would have the wells locked in.

MR. MILLAR:  But I'm asking NRG Limited.  You would agree with me that you wouldn't pay more than a market price absent this system integrity issue?

MR. COWAN:  I wouldn't think so, but this is a difficult situation, and I don't want to be held to that.

There may be circumstances where we would have to buy gas from Corp. for reasons other than system integrity.  I don't know that.

MR. GRAAT:  Well, I can answer that.

We have a contract with TransCanada, and TransCanada has daily volume that we have to take.  If the demand is greater than the daily volume, we're going to be charged higher transportation costs.  And once you are charged a higher transportation cost once, it continues for the whole year, and it's in the hundreds of thousands of dollars.

And the buying of gas from Corp. mitigates those possibilities.

MR. MILLAR:  You keep saying "we."  By --

MR. COWAN:  Limited.  I said that before.

MR. MILLAR:  No, I understand.  I just wanted to make sure NRG Corp. doesn't have a contract with TCPL.  It's NRG Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  No, NRG -- I'm sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  My simple point is, yes, if you can't get it from TCPL, you'd have to get it from NRG or someone else --

MR. GRAAT:  But what I'm saying is --

MS. O'MEARA:  You mentioned system integrity.  That's one issue.  The other one is the daily demand quantity from Union Gas.

So you would have to look at the cost of how much transportation would increase if that daily demand quantity peaked, because once it peaks in just one day, then that minimum stays and the demand charge is quite excessive.  So what they're saying is that might be a few hundred thousand dollars, and therefore that, again, would be -- a cost-benefit analysis would happen --

MR. GRAAT:  And we could pay them $20 an MCF, and it would still be a bargain.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand the answer.  Thank you.

MR. GRAAT:  There's a whole lot of things at play here that would benefit both parties.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, some questions for the applicant, NRG Limited.

The system integrity study, I'll have some questions for Mr. Chan later.  Just to be clear, that was done by Mr. Chan; you hadn't done a dry run yourself or something like that?  I assume you don't even have the software or ability to do that kind of study?

MR. GRAAT:  We had an idea, and our idea was not as aggressive, obviously, as Mr. Chan's idea.

MR. MILLAR:  In Mr. Chan's study, he chose a minus-28-degree day.  Was that -- Mr. Chan can answer that if he likes.  Did Mr. Chan choose minus 28 degrees, or was that NRG?

MR. CHAN:  It was me, actually.  I chose it, because the data was available.

MR. MILLAR:  And what is the data we're talking about?

MR. CHAN:  Data is essentially in the -- is the meters coming off the Union Gas stations, as well as various other locations.  And they are in appendix 2.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chan, my specific question just simply related to the minus 28 degrees, that you chose minus 28.

MR. CHAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Who chose minus 28?

MR. CHAN:  The data was available at the time from NRG Limited.

MR. MILLAR:  So what's the data?

MR. CHAN:  The data is the metering data --

MR. MILLAR:  No, no, sorry.  What data led you to choose minus 28 degrees?

MR. CHAN:  Because that was the coldest day.

MR. MILLAR:  When was that day?

MR. CHAN:  That was January something of this year, January 23rd to January the 24th.  Basically, it was the overnight.


MR. MILLAR:  Where was that temperature?  Where was the reading from?

MR. CHAN:  The reading was from the various locations, Harrietsville Station, Union Gas, let's see here; North Walsingham, and then there's another location here, New England, Ridge Road, Nilestown Station, Putnam.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.  These are all in NRG service territory, though?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The reading came from NRG's service territory.  Sorry, that's minus 28 degrees; does that include a wind chill or that's the actual thermometer reading?

MR. CHAN:  No, it's actual.

MR. MILLAR:  The other assumption or one of the other assumptions in the studies relates to grain dryers operating.

Was that your decision, that in the study the grain dryers should be operating, or NRG Limited's decision?

MR. CHAN:  No, it was mine.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I'll have some more questions for you about that later, but I think I can move on from that.

Back to questions for NRG Limited.  Again with grain dryers, can you tell me what a grain dryer is?

MR. GRAAT:  They're primarily dryers of corn.  There's moisture in the corn, and it weighs a lot more when it has a high moisture content, and I think it forms mould if you leave it sitting if it's too wet.  So the corn is dried and graded by the grain-dryer operator, and then it's sold on to market at whatever price.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it these use a significant amount of gas?  That's why it's significant --


MR. GRAAT:  Yes, and they use it in a short period of time because it's in the fall, and this fall has been a very wet fall, and there's lots of bad corn out there because of the mould, and it's more complicated --


MR. MILLAR:  When we say "a significant amount of gas", how much are we talking about?  This will be -- it's a percentage of your day.  Is it possible to quantify that even --


MR. GRAAT:  Well, one grain dryer last month used 40,000 -- was it MCF that Jack told me?  Yeah, 40,000 MCF.

MR. MILLAR:  That's just one?

MR. GRAAT:  One.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they're significant users.  That's fair to say --


MR. GRAAT:  Again, it varies.  It's the same as tobacco farmers.  If it's a wet fall or a wet summer, then tobacco needs more curing or takes longer to cure, so there's a lot more gas.  And if, you know, if the crop comes off at the same time for everybody, obviously you have a huge demand in a two- or three-week period, so there's no formula that you can use.

MR. MILLAR:  You stated they typically operate in the fall; is that right?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Harvest season?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So is the fall September, October, November?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, that all depends on how well the crop -- how it germinates in the spring and how wet the spring is and how far into the fall the planning, or the, I guess the removal of the corn takes, and this year I think it was a long time, because it was wet, you couldn't get in the field, and there's a whole lot of things that -- but I'm not a farmer, but --


MR. MILLAR:  No, fair enough.

MR. GRAAT:  -- there are a whole lot of issues that go along with farming other than what meets the eye.  I mean, they're all there -- when it's a little bit drier, they're like 24 hours a day they've got the trucks lined up for five miles.

MR. MILLAR:  So are they still operating now?

MR. GRAAT:  There's still some guys taking corn off, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAAT:  And they're still drying, because it can't all be dried at the same time.

MR. MILLAR:  What would be the latest date that they would still be using the dryers?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, I would say it would be probably to the middle of December.  But I can't tell you that precisely, because there's all these variables.

MR. MILLAR:  And doubtless it would vary from year to year, but they wouldn't be operating these in the winter.

MR. GRAAT:  No, not likely.  Not unless the guy had a special -- the farmer or the dryer had a -- the operator had a special order that needed some --


MR. MILLAR:  Typically it wouldn't be done?


MR. GRAAT:  Typically it wouldn't be, yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I don't imagine you get many minus-28-degree days in the fall or even up to mid-December?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, you could.  With the wind chill you could get very cold weather, very cold.

MR. MILLAR:  With the wind chill.  Okay.

MR. GRAAT:  Yeah, and yet -- and as I mentioned earlier, there's frost nights, meaning in August from time to time.  It's hard to believe, but there is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We're talking Celsius degrees?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, minus 28, I guess that would be the temperature -- we're not talking degree days.  This is a minus -- Mr. Chan, maybe you can confirm this.  We're talking the thermometer reads minus 28 degrees Celsius?


MR. CHAN:  Yes, the measured value.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAAT:  Like, if we had -- for instance, if we had a lot of -- if we had a cold fall this year, and the dryers were on, and you looked at the weather report, and Friday it's going to be five below and Monday is going to be ten below, we have to get these wells, you know, all dressed up and ready to go, so the usual -- the problem with demand is at 5:00 or 6:00, 7:00 in the morning, when everybody gets up, and, Oh, it's really cold, and crank up their furnaces, the dryers get going at 7:30, 7:00, 7:30, and then you've got a huge demand all at one time.

MR. MILLAR:  Still with NRG Limited, when you received the September 30th letter or, indeed, prior to that, with your pricing arrangements with NRG Corp., which I understand were always in that range, or at least that's what's reflected in the contract -- the K1.3 document.  There was some discussion of this in the technical conference, but maybe you can explain to me what, if any, efforts you made to look to other suppliers who could provide gas directly to your system, perhaps, other than NRG Corp.

MR. GRAAT:  Are you asking me?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I'm asking NRG Limited what they did to see who else could supply that gas.  Well --


MR. KING:  My cover letter yesterday said that Mr. Graat is the secretary-treasurer of NRG Corp.  It also said he was president of NRG.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't really care who answers --


MR. KING:  There's never been a secret that they're shared employees and that the two companies operate with similar employees.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. King, to be fair, I think you did introduce a little bit of confusion when you suggested you weren't sure how to handle Mr. Graat, as far as accepting evidence -- adopting evidence.

MR. KING:  I'm in your hands.  I'm just -- if the purpose of today is to get the best information on the record, Mr. Graat bought the utility out of bankruptcy, as the evidence says, about 30 years ago, developed the utility, and at the same time started drilling wells, so he really is here because he's the best person to speak to the big picture and the relationship between the two.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll regard his evidence as binding both corporations.

MR. KING:  Fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Go ahead.

MR. GRAAT:  So what was the --


MR. MILLAR:  My question, what efforts were made to find alternate local suppliers other than NRG Corp.?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we're in the -- our franchise area covers a lot of territory, like, I don't know, hundreds of square miles.  And we're familiar with very much -- NRG Limited or NRG Corp. are very familiar with what's out there, as far as wells that have been drilled or producing wells.

So to the extent that what's available -- there isn't very much available, and the few wells that are available are too far away from our pipelines.  So it would require a significant amount of capital cost to hook up those wells, and the owners of those wells are not prepared to do that, because they know nothing about the gas business, and they don't know how long they can -- what time they can amortize their pipeline costs, so to speak, and so on and so forth.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you approached them, or has NRG --


MR. GRAAT:  Well, we've talked to -- we've talked to everybody in the franchise area, because we're always looking for places to drill.  So we're very familiar what's going on.

MR. MILLAR:  So you've spoken with other local producers, and none of them are willing to provide NRG with gas?

MR. GRAAT:  Greentree was prepared to buy gas, but they just went bankrupt, went into receivership about a year and a half ago, and they are no longer there.  And Echo (ph), they went into some sort of a receivership.  That was the second-biggest producer.

So the guys that are -- the people that are out there have to be reliable, because -- and they have to work in unison with us.  When we've got a demand for gas, they have to pony up, and right away.  We can't be saying, The guy is on holidays, or, No, I didn't service the well this month and you are going to have to wait a couple days.  I can't get a rig, and it goes on and on and on, so --


MR. MILLAR:  So on behalf of NRG Limited you had discussions with all local producers --


MR. GRAAT:  With --


MR. MILLAR:  -- to determine if they could provide firm gas amounts?

MR. GRAAT:  NRG Corp. has had discussions.  Keeping in mind that we want to produce gas or we want to be able to sell gas, buy and sell gas --


MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. GRAAT:  -- in our franchise area.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now --


MR. GRAAT:  And we have not found an acceptable candidate thus far.

MR. MILLAR:  For NRG Corp.'s purposes or NRG Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  NRG Limited's purposes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you've been acting on behalf of NRG Limited --


MR. GRAAT:  Limited and Corp.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  They don't have the same interests, though, do they, NRG Corp. and NRG Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  If there's a pipeline required, then probably NRG Corp. would get involved in that and they would manage the well for Limited.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, let's -- Mr. King has distributed Exhibit K1.2, which is a list I had provided to him yesterday.

And just to clarify what this is, Mr. Chair, this is simply - indeed, it was Mr. Viraney who did it - simply went to the Ministry of Natural Resources website, and a fairly rudimentary search, simply sought all active natural-gas-producing wells in Elgin County, I believe it is, and it spat out this list.  It's not necessarily exhaustive, because it doesn't include, for example, oil wells, which might also produce supplemental gas, and by no means is this meant to be exhaustive or anything more than a simple five-minute Internet search, but a couple of questions for it about -- for the company.

First of all, NRG's service territory is not all of Elgin County, but it's in Elgin County; is that correct?

MR. GRAAT:  It borders onto Elgin County, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Borders on Elgin County, or it's within Elgin County?

(Witness panel confer)

MR. GRAAT:  I don't believe it does.  It may touch it somewhere, but it's --

MR. MILLAR:  My understanding is Aylmer is in Elgin County.  Maybe we can attempt to confirm this.

(Witness panel confer)


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, while they are doing that, can you run over the source and the reason this was produced?

I'm just trying to capture, again, on the record here.  Maybe I just --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, fair enough.  I'm going to be asking them some questions about the number of natural gas wells in their service territory or nearby.  This was simply -- the Ministry of Natural Resources keeps a database of all producing natural gas wells, so we did a simple search of the ones that were active in Elgin County, which -- to my understanding, all or virtually all of NRG's service territory is within Elgin County, though Elgin County is bigger, itself, than NRG's service territory.

We may have to try and confirm that over a break.  I'll continue and maybe we can figure out where Elgin County is before the day is done.

Regardless, this list, I have not counted, but there are dozens, indeed hundreds of active natural gas wells, at least in Elgin County.  Does that look right to you?

I know this isn't your document.

MR. GRAAT:  The wells that are referred to as Consumers as the operator and Lake Erie are in the lake.  So the gathering system is in the lake, and I think it hits land somewhere in St. Thomas, or rather in Port Stanley is where their big pipeline is.

But we don't have a problem getting gas from Union into our franchise area.  It's distributing it in the franchise area.  So anything that's out of the franchise area is of very little help to us.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  Perhaps if it was right beside your service territory, there might be some --

MR. GRAAT:  There may be.  I noticed there was in here that -- where is it?  Riverbend.  This is a farmer that has about eight hundred acres, and he's got a couple of wells on his farm.  They're good wells, but they're seven or eight miles away from our franchise area.  So it would be cost-prohibitive to try to deal with him.  We've talked to him at length.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me ask the company this question.  Have you gone to the Ministry's website or some similar database, to --

MR. GRAAT:  We have a map of all of the wells in Ontario.

MR. MILLAR:  So you know where every single well is in your service territory?

MR. GRAAT:  Pretty well.

MR. MILLAR:  Pretty well or -- who made the map?

MR. GRAAT:  The Ministry puts out the map, and then we've added to it from time to time when we find out there's something there.

MR. MILLAR:  And you've approached the people who have wells, to see --

MR. GRAAT:  By and large, anybody of quality potential, quality potential, we've approached.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Graat, and I recognize that we need to hear this from the viewpoints of the two companies that you are here testifying for --

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  When you say "we've looked at" -- and you've mentioned a possible scenario where the Corp. may be interested in partnering with a supplier and producing --creating a pipeline and then entering into an agreement to manage it for them, then in that scenario, Limited would still just have one supplier, and that would be Corp.?  Is that the case?

MR. GRAAT:  That would be the idea.  If -- we haven't -- we've done one of those deals.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So when Mr. Millar asks have you looked for other suppliers, I think from Limited's point of view, what would your response would be?

MR. GRAAT:  Our response is that we don't believe that maybe Limited has the expertise or the staffing to ascertain that, so they would go to NRG Corp. and they're in the business to say what's available and what can you do for us.  That's the way I would --

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's helpful.  Thank you.

MR. GRAAT:  -- deal with it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Now, I understand that NRG Limited in the past did used to purchase certain amounts of gas from non-affiliated local producers; is that right?

MR. GRAAT:  They have produced -- I think they have purchased gas from a chap by the name of George Chilean; I believe his company...  Years ago.

MR. MILLAR:  I understood in a response that you --

MS. O'MEARA:  I think in our prior -- we didn't purchase it.  It went through our system.  He sold to Union Gas and we purchased from Union Gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and that was a balancing arrangement?

MS. O'MEARA:  That was around six or whatever --

MR. GRAAT:  But it was a purchase, no matter how you look at it, because they were trading gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. GRAAT:  So what was happening, he was putting it into --

MR. MILLAR:  Into your system?

MR. GRAAT:  And we were bringing it back to Union, his gas.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have purchased gas from non-affiliated gas producers in your service territory in the past?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.  To that extent, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think I read in the technical conference, the last time did you that was about five years ago?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's the last time I saw it on the record.

MR. GRAAT:  There's also a chap that we have a joint venture with on a couple of wells.

MR. MILLAR:  We as in NRG Corp.?

MR. GRAAT:  NRG Corp., yes.  That has supplied gas to NRG Corp. Limited.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, in response to the VECC interrogatory – again, I think it was 12 - you said you were unable to guarantee production on a consistent basis with these other third-party suppliers.

And I was wondering if we could get some elaboration on that; what was the problem with these suppliers?

MR. GRAAT:  I've just been going through what is involved.  We have to be prepared months before.

So what are we going to say to the guy?  We may want to buy some gas from you; maybe some in August, maybe not.  Maybe some in October, and so on, in November, December.  And then maybe in February.

And he's going to say:  You have to consistently buy gas from me.  Or --

MR. MILLAR:  He's going to say, or he did say?

MR. GRAAT:  No, he would say.  That would be the norm.  You know, you make an arrangement, and he's not in the business of getting $1,000 this month and 3,000 the next and nothing the following month.

So he needs to be guaranteed some cash flow.  So he would want you to -- you would have to pay him some standby if you are not using the gas.

MR. MILLAR:  But you haven't actually had those discussions?

MR. GRAAT:  We've had those discussions, like, many --not many years ago.  Several years ago.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's talk about Mr. Chilean, who you mentioned.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes?

MR. MILLAR:  Does he operate or work for a business called Metalore Resources Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  That's right.  It's a publicly traded company.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's a fairly large gas producer in Elgin County, is it not?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, they produce some gas.  They are in the mining business; that's the primary business.

MR. MILLAR:  But they produce and sell natural gas?

MR. GRAAT:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  They produce natural gas in your service territory, or very close to it?

MR. GRAAT:  Not in our service territory.  Just close to it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  All right, right beside.  And I understand you actually have a direct connection to their system?

MR. GRAAT:  We had some -- we purchased some gas from them when we had the arrangement where we did the trade with Union.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right, but you actually have a direct connect from their wells to your system?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, into our franchise area.

MR. MILLAR:  Right, but into your pipes?  It doesn't go through Union?

MR. GRAAT:  Into the pipes, yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  And you had an arrangement with them something like five years ago --


MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  -- is that right?  Why did you terminate that arrangement?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, it was always it was this -- we need more money, and you're not paying any transportation and -- it just it was a whole lot of -- these guys are all entrepreneurs and they are not interested in -- they are interested in making a buck, and where they can make the most money is where they are going to go.

So if it's two bits' difference from what we're paying that they are paying, they are gone.  They just say:  We've given you your 30 days' notice, and we're onto something else.

MR. MILLAR:  Were they unable to guarantee production on a consistent basis?  Was that the problem, that they couldn't produce the gas?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, no, they want a 30-day out clause, and so they wouldn't enter into a long-term.

And we couldn't use the gas from time to time in that particular area.  We're buying the gas from Union.

MR. MILLAR:  The hook-up to Metalore is still there, is it not?

MR. GRAAT:  I have no idea.

MR. MILLAR:  Who would?

MR. GRAAT:  I don't know what he's done.  It's something -- we haven't done anything for five years.

MR. MILLAR:  I understood that you had built the pipeline to hook up to him.

MR. GRAAT:  We had an arrangement with him.  I don't know whether he paid for all of it or some of it or we paid for all of it.  But he's too difficult to deal with.

MR. MILLAR:  And you have not approached him in the last five --


MR. GRAAT:  I'm not interested in talking to him ever again, because it's a waste of time.  As soon as the deal - he can get a better deal somewhere else, he's gone like a rabbit.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's from the perspective of NRG Limited as well --


MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  -- as NRG Corp.?


MR. QUESNELLE:  From the perspective of NRG Limited, that is straying from what you just suggested, Mr. Graat, as being the typical model you would be looking to to procure or under which model you would be procuring.  Again, is it from NRG Limited seeking multiple suppliers perspective or is it from the Corp. looking at supply that they would incorporate into their supply to Limited?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, it started -- NRG Corp. had an opportunity to supply gas to Limited where they had no gas.  They could drill some wells and supply gas.  In turn, that allowed Limited to put some pipeline in and acquire some customers and supply gas to them.  So that's where we're at.  So we put the gas, we drilled the wells, where NRG did not have the sufficient pipeline.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We NRG Corp.?


MR. GRAAT:  Drilled.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Drilled the wells?


MR. GRAAT:  Drilled where NRG wouldn't have sufficient pipeline capacity, by and large, more or less, most of the time.  That afforded them to expand the business, and NRG was delivering the gas for them.  So it's somewhat specific.  It's not buying gas from somebody on the outside, it's making sure that we get the gas in the right place.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm just trying to follow the driver for that and which entity is served by that, which entity's interest is served by that --


MR. GRAAT:  Both.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well --


MR. GRAAT:  That's what -- I think what I'm trying to articulate here.  They are both served equally.  They need the gas, and we think we can supply it, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I guess to -- and this is, I think -- I'm going to spend some time on this, because it's right on the nub of the issue, I believe, one of the issues, and that is, when you say "both", that may be the case if one's a primary and one is a secondary.  But perhaps rather than describe it as separate interests, could we just simply identify who would be engaged in the activity?  If whether or not is it direct from NRG Limited to a separate supplier, or would, in all these scenarios that you are suggesting you've sought to enter into business arrangements that have not worked out, whether or not NRG Corp. would always be engaged in that in some fashion?


MR. GRAAT:  Well, I don't think that NRG Limited has the expertise, the general manager and the staff, of doing what NRG Corp. does.  So they either have to hire Mr. Chan here or someone like him to go and ferret out some plays, and then make a proposal or hire some other professional engineer, a geologist or a pipeline expert or a -- so we're doing that for him, because we're continually looking around to see what's going on.  We haven't drilled a well in about a year in our area, but we've got thousands of acres that we've acquired in the last year and a half, because there's a few people have gone out of business, and their leases have been -- they expired or they have dropped them, and --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. GRAAT:  -- top leases, so to speak, and --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think that brings the clarity that's required.  And the only reason I keep going back to this is that we have a transcript that is, you know, it's going to be difficult to follow as to who you're speaking -which views you are expressing at which time.  But if that's the overall, overarching concept as to who would be engaged in these different activities, I think that's helpful.

MR. GRAAT:  I think that it's fair to say that Corp. has the expertise and Limited doesn't.  Limited is the distribution company and Corp. is the exploration company, and they would ferret out the areas where the gas is, and then they would call Limited and say, Is that something you're interested in, and if they say, Well, yeah, it's this, it's that, then we could start to bargain whether we are going to drill there or not.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  That's helpful, Mr. Graat.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just to continue, I think this was confirmed in a technical conference, but NRG Limited has not issued any formal RFQ or RFP to gas suppliers in the area to attempt to provide gas similar to the way NRG Corp. might; is that correct?

MR. COWAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned -- I think, Mr. Graat, you mentioned a company called Echo, which has entered receivership.  Do I understand that that's been purchased by a company called Magnum?  Do you know that?

MR. GRAAT:  I'm not certain, but there's -- I think there are several people are involved in that.

MR. MILLAR:  And Echo is a company that used to provide gas to Natural Gas Limited; is that right?  Or it's just a local producer.

MR. GRAAT:  No, it's a local producer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Do you know if they are still producing gas?

MR. GRAAT:  I don't know whether it's Echo.  The other company was Song.  I think Song was another company.

MR. MILLAR:  Are those gas wells still producing?

MR. GRAAT:  I believe some of them are.  But the company's in disarray because of some difficulties they had with their investors.

MR. MILLAR:  Has NRG Limited approached this company to see if they can provide gas?

MR. GRAAT:  I wouldn't be interested.  We tried to do something with Greentree, publicly traded company, and it was just a nightmare to get them to do anything, and we finally did something with them, and it cost us 75 grand.

MR. MILLAR:  So who would you consider doing business with?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, right now we deal with, obviously, the big companies --


MR. MILLAR:  Union.

MR. GRAAT:  -- and there is nobody really there of any consequence that I consider -- we consider to be reliable.  And that's hard to believe, but that's the makeup of this whole business in southwestern Ontario.  All the big players are doing shale-gas plays in upper New York state and northern Michigan.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn to the book of authorities, K1.1, tab 3.  This is -- these are documents already on the file, helpfully provided by Mr. King.  It shows sort of your cost of gas actuals, and delivered amounts, et cetera, I think, from 2006 up to about maybe 2011.  There's a number of years.  Do you see -- do you have the tab?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if you could turn to Exhibit -- there's D7, tab 2, schedule 1 and 2.  These are the 2010 numbers.  They're close to the back.  There's one, the cost of gas, and then there's a chart on the next page showing purchased gas commodity variance account calculation for 2010 bridge year?  Do you see that?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I look on that, you see volumes purchased, M-cubeds, you've got the local production A from affiliate -- I assume that that's the gas from NRG Corp.?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then I see below that "local production B".  What is that?

MR. GRAAT:  I believe that would be the partnership we have with another -- Mr. --


MS. O'MEARA:  It's purchased by NRG Corp., but it's just identified as something that we're in a joint venture with that Mr. Graat had mentioned.

MR. MILLAR:  Who is the joint venture with?

MS. O'MEARA:  I believe that's what that is.

MR. GRAAT:  George Jonckheere is the fellow's name.

MS. O'MEARA:  I believe.  I'm not --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that Metalore?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MS. O'MEARA:  No.

MR. GRAAT:  No, this is Jonckheere.  Chilean was the other gentleman, George Chilean.

MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Jonckheere, he has gas-producing wells?  Is that...?

MR. GRAAT:  He has -- he's a farmer, and I think we've been with him for 25 years or something.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  NRG Limited purchased a fair chunk of gas from him in February of 2010.

MR. GRAAT:  Well, I think the way that works out is, is part of it -- it's all of the gas it produces that's on here from the wells, and half of it is Corp.'s and half it is Limited -- and half of it is his.  That's the way that works.

MR. MILLAR:  But this is gas provided by Mr. Jonckheere?

MR. GRAAT:  Well --


MS. O'MEARA:  To be quite honest, Michael, I'm going to have to -- I'm not exactly sure what that number relates to.

MR. MILLAR:  What we can try -- we're obviously going to --


MS. O'MEARA:  Simply because the -- I'm looking at the .21238, the price --


MR. MILLAR:  The price, yes, I was going to ask --


MS. O'MEARA:  -- and that is not the price we pay for that gas.  So it's all at .3012.  That's -- so that's one thing that's leading me to believe that that's not what we think it is.

MR. MILLAR:  I think what we'll probably have to -- my hope is we don't have to do any undertakings or anything like that.  Obviously we're going to have to have a break soon.  We may even be into the lunch period.  So why don't we come back to this issue?  Perhaps on the break you can have a look.

MS. O'MEARA:  [microphone not activated]


MR. MILLAR:  But just to let you know where I'm going, my questions were, where did that gas come from, and why did you only pay -- not why did you only pay 21 cents, but if you can get that gas for 21 cents --


MS. O'MEARA:  Remember, this is the bridge year, right?  So that was just estimates at the time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, fair enough, but --


MS. O'MEARA:  This isn't actual data.


MR. MILLAR:  There's a significant delta between what you've --


MR. O'MEARA:  I agree.

MR. MILLAR:  -- anticipated.  Okay.  So we'll come back to that issue, perhaps.

MS. O'MEARA:  Because I don't see it on the other -- if you look, it's not on 2008 actual, it's not on 2009 actual, and it's not on our test year.

So this is the only year where they've broken out a certain volume, and I think it's on the wrong line, to be quite honest.  I think that's the Ontario delivered gas, because I think at that point we knew we had to purchase so much -- that's our true-up that we do twice a year with Union Gas, and it's usually at a spot price.  And I believe that that might be an estimate of what was expected, and they have just put it on the --


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we come back to this?  That'll give you a chance to take a look at it.

Mr. Chair, I've just got a couple questions left for NRG Limited.  I know we're getting close to time for a break.  I've probably got another five minutes to get us there.  That would be a natural break, unless --


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, that would be fine, Mr. Millar.  Carry on.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, questions for NRG Limited about system pressure, system integrity.

I believe it was discussed in phase 1 of the proceeding that you require about 2.4 million cubic metres of gas to maintain system integrity; do you recall that?

MS. O'MEARA:  I think what we are doing at the time was we were estimating what we felt the purchases for that year were going to be.

MR. MILLAR:  I thought the total purchases were 5 million and 2.4 million if it was --


MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  -- required for system integrity?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And obviously that's an estimate, I guess?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's what I wanted to say, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  How do you know when you need gas for system integrity?

MR. GRAAT:  If we -- I think I tried to explain that to you earlier, is that if the weather is going to go cold on us, which we haven't had a cold, a really cold, week or two, but you can pretty well tell if there's a front coming in from out west and we're going to get 20 or 30 below weather, we have to turn those wells on and we'll have to prepare for higher volumes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if the -- temperature would be one?

MR. GRAAT:  Temperature would be, yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  If the cold front is coming through, that's, I guess, a trigger for you to start getting system integrity gas from NRG?

MR. GRAAT:  We may turn on -- if right now we have 10 wells on, we might turn on 20 wells if the weather looks like it's going to be bad enough.  There's no sense saying to Limited:  We're going to give you system integrity, and not supply the gas that they require.

So it's sort of a wild card how much --


MR. MILLAR:  Is there -–

MR. GRAAT:  -- into their system --


MS. O'MEARA:  I think we tried to answer this last conference.  And I think it was basically it came down to it's just a best guess.  There's no formula or anything that you can use, because there's just too many variables.

You've got the grain dryers, the tobacco farmers, the weather, the daily quantity from Union Gas that you don't want to exceed.  So there's a lot of -- and the issues of getting the wells ready in case they are needed.

So because of the different variables at play - and hindsight is great, but we don't have that - so there is no magic formula.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.

Do you remember system integrity gas consistently throughout the year?  I would imagine you need it more in the winter, for example?  Is that a fair assessment?  Or the fall?

MR. GRAAT:  I think that you need it in the fall and you need it in the winter.

MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't necessarily need it in May, for example?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, unless you had a really cold –- yeah, unless you had a really cold May --


MR. MILLAR:  That's certainly possible.

MR. GRAAT:  -- which you can have.

MR. MILLAR:  You be much more likely in January than May?


MR. GRAAT:  Absolutely.  The middle of January to the middle of March is your coldest months.

MR. MILLAR:  Just one final area.  Your proposal in this case, if I understand it, is that NRG Limited will pay NRG Corp. $8.486 per million cubic feet, where the market price is under $10, and NRG Corp. will get the market price wherever the market price is over $10; is that correct?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is this proposal just for the system integrity gas -- in other words, the 2.4 million cubic feet -- or is that for all gas you purchase from NRG Corp.?

MR. GRAAT:  It would be for all of the gas they purchased.  But there's another side to this, is that if we are to maintain the position that we are going to supply gas for system integrity, we need to know that the new wells we drill, that we're going to be paid.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you need more wells for system integrity?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we -- the wells eventually deplete.  Some of them have been around for 30 years, but I mean, to be safe, we need to drill some more wells, and we will drill some more wells.  We can put a big program into play at any time.  We got 12 wells on the books right now that we could -- locations that we could drill.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, just to be clear on what the exact proposal is, so what you are proposing is something different from what the Board approved in the phase 1 proceeding, which was a premium on the 2.4 million, but market price or nothing, I guess, for anything other than the 2.4 million; is that -- so you are proposing something different, as all I'm asking?


MR. GRAAT:  I think we need to modify that, because that's what -- I think that was a specific question, but when you look at how it works in practice, it doesn't work for us, because if we get a cold winter and we're going to exceed our demand with the Union, we're going to have to pump as much gas in there to avoid that situation or attempt to avoid that situation.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand the position –- sorry, I understand the argument.  I just want to make sure the position is clear.  You are seeking -- it would be a change from the existing?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Not just in the amount charged, but also it wouldn't just apply to the 2.4 million; it would be all gas you get from NRG Corp.?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And there wouldn't be a limit on that amount, I take it?

MR. GRAAT:  No.  If it's -- I think the new gas we have to be able to sell to somebody.

MR. MILLAR:  So no limit?

MR. GRAAT:  I would say there would be no limit, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If I can make an observation -- I'm not sure there is an easy answer to this, but an observation I would make is that you seem to be unwilling to take any downside risk on low market prices, but at the same time you want to claim a benefit if there are high market prices, in other words over 10 bucks?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, I think it's --


MS. O'MEARA:  There is a window --


MR. GRAAT:  -- about a 20 percent difference that we're eating.

MR. MILLAR:  How are you eating it?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, if the price is 8.50, we -- it stays at 8.50, until it gets over $10 --


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  That's your high-end risk, but of course you are not taking any risk at all in you proposal at the low end.  You are getting your 8.46 irrespective of how low it goes, sort of locked in at a minimum, but then you still get the maximum.

Is that fair to ratepayers?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we believe it's an anomaly in the market right now, and -- but that is the situation.

MS. O'MEARA:  Again, you have to look at the ratepayers as NRG Limited.  Corp. has their own shareholders to look after, and they are completely separate.  As Mr. Graat mentioned earlier, he has to be fair to those.  And if they don't get the 8.48 -- and that includes -- yes, it does include a premium.  It includes a premium that would basically give us reliable gas when we need it, how much we need it, and so on and so forth.

And it allows NRG Corp. to continue -- you talked about getting a fair return.  Well, it also has to incorporate an element to continue their capital expansion and drill wells if necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  But that's what 8.46 would include?

MS. O'MEARA:  Exactly.

MR. MILLAR:  This is a point for argument.

MS. O'MEARA:  So that's Corp., and then Limited, again, we've done the cost-benefit analysis to Limited, and we would continue to do so.  And -- you know, when it would not make sense to purchase from Corp., then we would look.  They are the ones that are looking at the benefits to the ratepayers.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough, and I think we have the information.  We can make whatever arguments, but --


MR. GRAAT:  The price would have to go up about $50 an MCF.

MR. COWAN:  I would like to underline, from the standpoint of Limited, that the cost of exploration and bringing in a new supply of gas is all borne by Corp.

They provide to Limited a guaranteed supply of gas.

MR. MILLAR:  And in your proposal, you guarantee them a price?

MR. COWAN:  Yes, but at a very cost-beneficial basis, from the standpoint of the ratepayers.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand the point, and I guess we can make argument as we choose.

Mr. Chair, those are -- I have questions left for the consultant, but this might be a natural place to break, if that's...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Just a couple of points there.  Back to the putting the onus of the activity and whether or not it's on the Corp. or Limited, the conversation about the -- what needs to be done as far as projecting needs on a short-term basis and a long-term basis.  Who takes on that activity, as far as doing the projections of wells and loads and what have you on a short-term and long-term basis, as to -- from an operational point of view of the wells?  Is that something that comes from Limited as a request, or is that from an oversight role of Corp. as to what the projected needs are?

MR. GRAAT:  Limited has a program that they generate, that indicates where the capacities are or where the shortcomings are, meaning where we may not have enough gas and where the -- where -- how the pressures are and how it all functions.  So they would come to us, or -- I'm the president of Limited.  They would come to Corp. and I'm a director of Corp., and say, We need -- we think we need -- we're trying to hook up a bunch of customers, or we maybe get some customers in this area; we may need some gas here, and we don't think the pipeline is sufficient.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be on a planning perspective, but on a daily operational basis, who would be making the call, or where does the activity reside, as far as making the call as to, as you put it, Mr. Graat, turning on the wells, getting them ready?

MR. GRAAT:  We, Corp. turns the wells on, and Corp. makes sure they function.  Limited tells us how much gas they may need, because they are --


MR. QUESNELLE:  On that short-term basis as well?

MR. GRAAT:  Yeah, they have the weather reports coming in all the time.  I mean, that's their business.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MR. GRAAT:  To know when the demand is, because they have to adjust the system at 3:00 and 4:00 in the morning, you know, push more gas here, push more gas there.  I mean, it's a small system, but it works the same as the large system, unfortunately.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I was just trying to get a handle on where that activity and responsibility --


MR. GRAAT:  Responsibility, by and large, would be with Limited to tell us what they want.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MR. GRAAT:  And because they know.  You know, they're involved in the weather patterns and what the demands are and who they may have to turn off if we can't supply the gas, because we have some interruptible customers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Sommerville?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, is that the nature of it, that they are advising you when you have an interruptible -- when they have an interruptible customer that may not require gas?  Is that the nature of that communication?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, no, but they would -- they would ask us, Well, can we supply -- let's says there's a -- we had interruptible customers, and they would say to us, Can you supply us more gas in this area, or We have to turn this guy off.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, that was the question I was going to ask you, was, are you talking about gas in this area, and I'm wondering how that actually -- and Mr. Cowan, I'm going to ask you.  What is meant by that, when you say you need gas in this area?  Is this not a unified system?

MR. COWAN:  Gas available in an area within our franchise.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, so you tailor gas available according to a very -- a highly localized requirement?  Is this not a continuous supply system, with the exception of the IGCP operation?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes, it is, but sometimes there's demand here more distribution there.  It --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, that's the same in every gas system.  Every gas distribution system has that attribute.


MR. GRAAT:  Then they will to have adjust it to allow more gas to go in a certain area --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, they need to adjust to ensure that there is enough gas within the system --


MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- but not with respect to a local requirement.  They don't have to plug gas into a discrete location on the pipeline.

MR. GRAAT:  No, they pump it into the system.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  So --


MR. GRAAT:  But in the geographic area where the gas is required.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well --


MR. GRAAT:  That's where the wells -- that's what the purpose of the wells are.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, but you have a unified distribution system, do you not?

MS. O'MEARA:  I think Mr. Chan might be able to --


MR. CHAN:  Yes.  Based on my understanding of the NRG Limited system, yes, the system is unified, but in a way subsistence (sic) to, depending -- like, there's a total of roughly 640,000 metres of pipe in the system, and some are larger, some are smaller.  The larger ones, I would call them feeder, feeder mains, right?  They're the backbone of the system.  And then there are quite a number of regulated stations and interconnection stations with Union Gas, and they are all being linked together or locked together by all these feeder mains.

When the weather changes and when, say, grain dryers start coming on, grain dryers are fairly high-loading type customer, and there are point lows in the way.  Like, at location all of a sudden you need 40,000, you know, MCF or whatever, the system needs to react, and it takes time for a gas system to react and to stabilize as well.  So that's how systems work.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yeah.

MR. CHAN:  Yeah.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll take a break until 11:45.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:26 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:46 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar, I think we left off -- you were about to change gears?

MR. MILLAR: Yes, I was, but just to tidy up one final issue, I've had a quick discussion with Ms. O'Meara regarding that issue about that gas purchase from local production B.  I understand that there may have been a transcribing error in filling out the charts, so maybe I'll ask Ms. O'Meara to clear up that issue.

MS. O'MEARA:  That whole line should have been on Ontario delivered gas.

MR. MILLAR:  Just so we're clear; I don't know if the Panel has it in front of them.  This is tab 3 of the book of authorities.

You recall I took you to some pages toward the end of that tab, Exhibit D7, tab 2, schedule 2, from the 2010-0018 proceeding.  And there was a line under "local production B" and we were trying to get to the bottom of what that was.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Tab 2 or tab 1 –- sorry, schedule 1?

MS. O'MEARA:  Tab 3.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, tab 3, schedule 1 and 2, but we're looking at schedule 2 right now.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  I'm going to have to find that, because I'm looking at schedule 1 right now.

MR. MILLAR:  There's a number of sets of them.  This is the 2010 bridge year.  I'm looking at the purchased gas commodity variance account calculation.  It's a chart that looks like this.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ah, sorry.  Yes.

MS. O'MEARA:  It's actually on both pages, the schedule 1 and schedule 2.  So that amount should be on the Ontario delivered gas.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MS. O'MEARA:  It's an amount that's purchased twice a year, sometimes, when we have to do a true-up with Union Gas.  And this happened to be February 2010.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So the same number, two different forms?

MS. O'MEARA:  Very close, but -– because this was the bridge year, but it was within, like, one percent of what's here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. O'Meara, could you just repeat what "Ontario delivered" actually means?

MS. O'MEARA:  It means it's the gas that we –- twice a year, we have to true up with Union Gas, because we're on a billing system.  So we buy, spot–buy, and Union Gas tells us how much we have to purchase that month to true up, and we purchase and it's -- so there's no transportation element.  It's from Ontario.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Got you.

MR. MILLAR:  So just to confirm, that is not, in fact, gas purchased from a local producer?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Mr. Chan, welcome.  We're still in the morning, but barely.  A few questions for you about the system integrity study.  We've covered the business about why minus 28 was chosen.

With respect to the grain dryers, you ran your analysis -- maybe just by way of background, it might be helpful.  I know Mr. Sommerville had some questions about this.  What I'm going to try and do is put, in my own words, a very high-level précis of your report, a summary of what the issue is here, because I think that might help frame the discussion.

As I understand it, NRG has some -- I'm not sure if they are unique, but unusual characteristics for a distribution system, and I think it relates to how it was built up over time.  But the situation that apparently they are faced with is, particularly in their southern area, they have trouble getting enough gas, at least under certain circumstances, getting enough gas down there to service a portion of their customers.

Is that essentially what the issue is?

MR. CHAN:  It is in the southeast quadrant of the system -- southwest, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  Southwest?  And one of the ways that this problem can be alleviated is by -- if you can produce gas in that very area - that way you don't have to transport it all the way in from Union – that that helps to alleviate that problem; is that a fair summary?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The purpose of your study, I guess, was to determine if there, in fact, would be a problem if those wells came off -- if NRG Limited could not access the NRG Corp. wells.  And the conclusions of your study was - at least with the scenario that you ran - was that there could be problems maintaining pressure in that area, which could lead to a loss of gas service by certain customers; is that fair?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.  During winter months.

MR. MILLAR:  During winter months.  We've discussed with Mr. Graat the issue of grain dryers.  Your test assumed the grain dryers were operating; is that correct?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR: And grain dryers are not likely to run certainly in January or February.  And I guess we heard it may happen in December, but presumably in the early part of December and maybe not that much.

So the situation you assumed, is that -- do you happen to know if that is likely to ever actually occur on the ground?

MR. CHAN:  Cold weather does, you know, happen, like, even in December.   I mean, although the majority of the cold days would be possibly from mid-January to about early part of March.  But it had happened before, and --


MR. MILLAR:  It happened in January?

MR. CHAN:  It happened in December, too.  Minus-20-something is a possibility, and it is also possible that around that time that grain dryers could be on.  Mind you, not all of them could be on.

MR. MILLAR:  Your test assumed they were all on?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.  And that's how I do my studies.  It is to test the system, to see what it's capable of.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to put words in your mouth.  Would it be fair to say that a minus-28-degree day with all grain dryers operating would be sort of a worst-case scenario?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  A realistic worst-case scenario?

MR. CHAN:  Yes, it's a worst-case scenario, although we did do one, did run a simulation, a study, in the same situation with the interruptible customers turned off.

MR. MILLAR:  And are those the grain dryers or --


MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And what happened in that scenario?

MR. CHAN:  In that case, we're still going to run into problems with the area immediately south of the town of Aylmer.

MR. MILLAR:  What document are you looking at, sir?

MS. O'MEARA:  This was a subsequent simulation that was done, in answer to one of your questions.

MR. CHAN:  Question No. 13.

MS. O'MEARA:  Question 13.

MR. MILLAR:  That's Board Staff Interrogatory 13?

MR. KING:  It's at tab 13 of the book of authorities, page 13 of 22.

MR. MILLAR:  This interrogatory response currently is all the evidence we have related to that second run of the test; is that right?  It's not in the original report?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer says -- to this interrogatory response -- there was some improvement:

"While there was some improvement, we still did not have acceptable pressures in the problem areas."

Can you tell me what -- can you elaborate on that, tell me where the problem was?

MR. CHAN:  Okay.  The area south of the town itself, south town of Aylmer.


MR. MILLAR: You've got a number of schematics in your report, and there's also the system map.  What would be the best thing for us to look at when you are describing where the problem is?

MR. CHAN:  The system map would be the better one.

It would be on the southwest side of the system map, right about here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could we see, please?

MR. CHAN:  Actually, this is the town itself, and the area that we going to run into a problem is right about here, just to the south of the town itself.

MR. MILLAR:  So you ran a simulation for that.  Would that simulation have produced a map similar to this?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we've had some discussions over the break about argument.  We may well be doing reply argument in writing now, subject to the Panel's determination on that, of course.

I don't want to be asking for undertakings -- I don't want to necessarily delay the hearing.  It looks like we may have some time now, so I'm going to ask that that printout, I guess, of that simulation be provided.

Would that be a problem?

MR. CHAN:  I've got it right here.

MR. MILLAR:  You have it there?  You don't have copies, I don't suppose?  We can make some copies.

MR. COWAN:  I can give you mine.

MR. MILLAR:  No, no.  We'll need copies for the record, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll take care of that.

MR. MILLAR:  So I'll give it an exhibit number.

(Witness panel confer)


MR. COWAN:  I can give it to you.

MR. MILLAR: Yes, if you don't mind.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cowan.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll call this Exhibit K1.4, and it is a simulation model for all gas wells shut in the grain dryer interruptible customers turned off.  That's how it's labelled.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  Document Labelled "Simulation model for all gas wells shut in the grain dryer interruptible customers turned off"

MR. MILLAR:  I assume this is for a minus-28-degree day?  So it's the same simulation, just with the interruptibles turned off.

MR. CHAN:  (Nodding)

MR. QUESNELLE:  That was a positive response, Mr. Chan?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Viraney is going to make some copies.  It's possible I have a question on that.  But thank you for that.

Okay.  Other than doing a run with the grain dryers off, did you do any other sensitivity analysis, say, for example, with a different degree day, something a bit warmer than minus-28?  Minus-20, just to throw out a number?

MR. CHAN:  No.  No, I did not.

MR. MILLAR:  So the only -- I think your mic may -- either has gone off or --


MR. CHAN:  It's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Sorry.  Maybe I just didn't hear you.

Okay.  So the only alternate run of this you did was in response to the Board Staff interrogatory where did you the run with the interruptibles.

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Are you able to determine from this study -- I had some questions for NRG Limited about what I called thresholds for when they would need system integrity gas, when they know they need gas and how much gas they need.  You heard that discussion that I had with them this morning?

MR. CHAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, you have to say either yes or no, just so it will show up on the transcript.

MR. CHAN:  Yes.  Yes, I have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Do you have any views on that?  Was there anything in your study that would allow us to know, even approximately, how many gas is needed for system integrity and when?  Is that -- would that be within the scope of your study?

MR. CHAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And are you able to tell us anything more than is in the study about how much gas would be required to maintain system integrity?

MR. CHAN:  For minus-28-degree day, yes, but the system is so dynamic, like, if you run the system in a warmer temperature the system would behave totally differently, and...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I appreciate there would be many variables.

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You stated that for the run that you did, I think it assumed that five wells were on; is that correct?  Five -- five or six wells were producing gas?

MR. CHAN:  Somewhere -- five or six, yes, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  For the run that you did with the minus-28 days and with the grain dryers on, do you know how much gas they required for system integrity?

MR. CHAN:  Not off the top of my head, but it's all in the simulation run.  The numbers are all there.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you be able to provide that number?

MR. CHAN:  Not presently, no.

MR. MILLAR:  But would you have that -- would you have that data available?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if we asked for an undertaking --


MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- you could provide it?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I will ask for that.  That will be Undertaking J1.1.  And just to make sure we're clear, it is to provide the amount of gas that NRG Limited would require to maintain system integrity on the test run you did for minus-28-degree day with the grain dryers on.  Do you understand that?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we're good.  That will be J1.1.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNT OF GAS THAT NRG LIMITED WOULD REQUIRE TO MAINTAIN SYSTEM INTEGRITY ON THE TEST RUN DONE FOR MINUS-28-DEGREE DAY WITH THE DRYERS ON AND OFF

MR. MILLAR:  If you could pull up -- I'm sorry, we have copies of the -- Mr. Chan, would you have that same number for your run with the grain dryers off as well?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask for that as well, both those numbers?  Thank you.

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And since I've got you on the stand now - I mean, I won't have another chance to ask these - could I ask you to turn up this map that you've just provided to us?  This is the run with the dryers off.

MR. QUESNELLE:  What was the exhibit number on that again?

MR. MILLAR:  K1.4, I think.

MR. CHAN:  It's with the interruptible customers off.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  And I'm just going to, for my own convenience, put it beside the initial run you did.  So if you could have both those.  I'm looking at -- is it appendix 5?  Would that be --


MR. CHAN:  Appendix -- let me take a look.

MR. MILLAR:  That shows the system pressure map with the well supplies turned off.

MR. CHAN:  Would be appendix 5, correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  So that's the run minus-28 degrees with the well -- pardon me, with interruptible customers on.

MR. CHAN:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we look at that map, this appendix 5, it's various colour-coding.  Am I correct that where you have the problem is the red?

MR. CHAN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that's where you have system pressure losses such that customers would --


MR. CHAN:  Potentially drop off.

MR. MILLAR:  -- would potentially -- would drop off.  Okay.

And then if we look at the second run you did, Exhibit K1.4, it's fair to say that red area is much smaller?  Is that fair to say?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And primarily looks to be immediately south of the town of Aylmer?

MR. CHAN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And otherwise, the system, although the pressure is falling in a few areas, it would still continue to operate; is that fair?

MR. CHAN:  Anything in red, orange, and yellow on the second run, we're talking about dangerous level.  Anything less than 20 pounds, potentially you could lose someone.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, I see, actually, the colour coding seems to be different on the two exhibits; is that right?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.  Unfortunately, during, you know, any particular run, each one is independent of each other, depending on what you the set the colours for.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But we have the legend beside it, so we can see the --


MR. CHAN:  Correct, and that's why the legend is provided, yes.  And bear in mind that the system simulation is only -- there's a certain margin of error there as well.  It's meant to provide high-level information for the reader and for the person using it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Could I ask you to turn up the franchise area map again?  Now, I'm not sure if this is a question for you.  The area at the southeast is shaded in this map.  Is that your shading, or is this something provided by the company?

MR. CHAN:  No, it's something provided by NRG.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I had initially assumed when I saw this map that the shading was meant to represent the problem area, but that's actually not the case; is that right?

MR. CHAN:  No, that's not the case.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cowan, Ms. O'Meara, or Mr. Graat, can you -- what is the shaded area?  Is there any significance to that?

MR. GRAAT:  We believe it to be the problem area, because that's where we have the difficulties.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, I'm hearing from Mr. Chan that the actual difficult area is a bit to the west of there, more under the town of Aylmer.

MR. GRAAT:  Mr. Chan indicated that there is three --


MR. MILLAR:  I think your microphone is off.

MR. GRAAT:  -- three areas where it was -- three colours that -- where they were being a danger level, and that -- and the pressure of the lines would go down to about 20, and he termed it as dangerously low.  Well, we're not in the dangerously low business, and we're not going to be able to operate a system on that basis.  And we believe we had that same issue on the far end, that area shaded in yellow.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, NRG believes, or that's what the -


MR. GRAAT:  NRG believes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Chan, does the study support that conclusion?  It doesn't seem, at least, from the diagrams or schematics or whatever you want to call them -- appendix 5, for example, doesn't show any particular problem in the shaded area.  Looks like that is actually one of the better regions.

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.  That's based on my study and my opinion.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAAT:  The gas has to come from that area to supplement the areas that are being affected.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MS. O'MEARA:  I think Mr. Graat had a -- that's where the --


MR. GRAAT:  That's about right, but...

MR. O'MEARA:  Yeah, that's where the gas has to come in in order to supplement the area that's in question.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's where NRG's gas wells are.

MS. O'MEARA:  Yeah, but that's actually where the gas has to come into the system, into our system, in that area in order to get the pressure required in the problem area.  Correct, Mr. Chan?

MR. CHAN:  Yes, that's my view.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. CHAN:  So if you could turn on more wells and be able to supply gas, to push gas from the southeast corner to the western part, all the better.

MR. MILLAR:  That's where the wells are, right?

MR. CHAN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, if there happened to be wells a kilometre south of the town of Aylmer, presumably those would perform the same function.

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm sorry, let's go to that -- the map of the whole system again before I took you off-track with that shading discussion.  Again, the shaded area itself, I see two interconnections with Union.  That's the Eden Station and North Walsingham Station; is that correct?  There's also a Bayham Station close to that.   Do you see those on the map?

MR. CHAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR: Did either you or perhaps NRG speak with Union about the possibility of increasing pressure at those sites?  Is that a possible option, to increase the flow of gas into the problematic area?

MR. CHAN:  I have not.

MR. MILLAR:  Has anyone from NRG?

MR. GRAAT:  I have.

MR. MILLAR:  What did they tell you?

MR. GRAAT:  The issue is it's not that we don't have enough gas.  We can't move the gas through the system at the right pressure.  So we can pump all the gas we want into that four-inch pipe at those two stations that you've mentioned, but we need the gas in Aylmer.

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. GRAAT:  We can't build up the pressure.  The system runs at 60 pounds max, and after that it's a dangerous level, so you don't want to exceed that.

You can't have that whole system running at 70 percent.  When we use a 29-degree day or temperature, that just assumes that it slowly builds up to 29 degrees.  But if you get a storm that comes in at 3:00 in the morning or 4:00 in the morning and everybody turns on their heating at the same time, which they would, there's a tremendous demand on that system, and some of that -- some of this system could go below 20 pounds.  So you've got to prepare for that.

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.


MR. GRAAT:  It's very -- it's like a piece of putty.  If you do this to it, it moves out in another manner.

This is a small -- this isn't Union Gas who has zillions of big pipelines that have been designed and integrated into big cities and towns.  This is a small system, a rural system.

MR. MILLAR:  So increased pressure at those Union --

MR. GRAAT:  Is not possible.

MR. CHAN:  Will not help at all, again, due to the fact that the lines are too small.  And there's not enough line pack.  This is what, you know, people in my industry would call, line pack, because the fact that the pressure, even though you pump up the pressure, but because of the spike in demand of the natural gas, that the pipe is so small, there's not enough, basically, natural gas packed into the system to respond.

MR. MILLAR:  You would know, would you not, which five wells were feeding into the system in the test?

MR. CHAN:  In the test, yes.  It was specified in the simulation run.

MR. MILLAR:  Are they shown on the diagram?

MR. CHAN:  They're not, actually.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you able to tell me which ones they are?  I see on NRG's system map the wells in that area are shown.  Are you able to tell me which five they were, or which -- there's three clusters, I note.  Do you...

MR. CHAN:  Not exactly, but going back to my simulation, I would be able to tell you exactly which ones they were.  We have two clusters.

MR. MILLAR: I see sort of three clusters.

MR. CHAN:  Yes, that's correct.  One in kind of the top right-hand corner, and then this big one here, and then to the west there is another one.

MR. MILLAR:  So do you know which clusters those five wells were in?

MR. CHAN:  I have highlighted some of them.  I can't recall exactly, but there's the –- the N30-01 could be one of them.  And then there's the 02-02 here.


MS. O'MEARA:  They're all in the middle clusters.


MR. CHAN:  Yeah, all in the middle cluster.

MR. MILLAR:  By the "middle cluster" do we mean -- if you look at North Walsingham Station, there's a cluster immediately below that, and then there's another cluster further below that?

MR. CHAN:  Yeah.  The one further below that.

MR. MILLAR:  So that's not all that much closer to the problem area than the two Union stations, is it?

MR. CHAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  So why is it that it assists to get additional gas there, whereas it wouldn't assist you to get additional gas from the two Union stations?

MR. CHAN:  The pressures on the -- in the gas wells are set slightly higher.  They are set at 80 pounds, and that helps the additional 20 --

MR. MILLAR:  I thought you said there was only so much pressure you could effectively take use of?

MR. GRAAT:  If you had an emergency, you could run the things at 20.

MR. MILLAR:  But I understood you to say:  We're not looking to run things at emergency levels.


MR. GRAAT:  We hope that we wouldn't have to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess my question for you, Mr. Chan, is:  Having these five wells in that cluster, is that any better for the system than potentially getting additional supply or pressure through the Union stations?

MR. CHAN:  Thing is not all the gas wells in my simulation are in that cluster.

MR. MILLAR:  Could we get an undertaking to identify which five wells they are?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.  I can do that as soon as I get back to my office.

MR. MILLAR: So that's Undertaking J1.2, to specifically identify, if possible on the NRG system map, which five wells were active for the purposes of the simulation.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO IDENTIFY, IF POSSIBLE ON THE NRG SYSTEM MAP, WHICH FIVE WELLS WERE ACTIVE FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE SIMULATION.

MR. MILLAR:  If I look at the system map, Mr. Chan, again, if you look at the Union NRG Eden Station -– do you see that?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  It looks to me it has got a four-inch pipe running out of it into NRG's system; is that correct?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The cluster of wells that we were talking about, and I understand maybe not all five of them were there, but that has actually a smaller pipe feeding into the rest of the system; is that fair?  A three-inch pipe?

MR. CHAN:  It's a three-inch, but it's a short distance, relatively speaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chan, does your simulation -– let's take your worst-case scenario with the grain dryers on and minus 28 degrees.  Are you able to tell how many customers would lose pressure, or is that something you could determine?

MR. CHAN:  Not from the simulation.  We could do rough count, yes.  Again, the simulation is an artificial representation of what's out there and there's a certain margin of error involved.  Yes, we can project it by doing a rough count.  It's doable.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you done a rough count?  Or it's --

MR. CHAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  I suppose it would depend on how many people are connected on the affected lines and what businesses may be there and whatnot?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.  Even on the coldest day, not all the furnaces will be on all at the same time.  There's a diversification factor involved.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that a difficult thing to do, to provide a rough estimate on that?

MR. CHAN:  On the number of customers you could drop off?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. CHAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to make a best-efforts attempt to provide that information?

MR. CHAN:  Not right away.

MR. MILLAR:  No, of course.  By way of undertaking.

That would be J1.3, and again, if it's not too much trouble, I would ask under both scenarios, both with the interruptibles on and the interruptibles off?
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  To make best-efforts attempt to ADVISE how many customers would lose pressure both with interruptibles on an interruptibles off; to comment on the practical ramifications of customers dropping off

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Chan, can you add an explanation to that undertaking as to the -- for lack of a better word -- ramifications of that -- iterations of that.  As customers drop off, pressure goes up.  Is that something you can simulate or -- my notion being that I'm not assuming that this is going to be a static end state.

MR. CHAN:  No, it's not.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you provide your commentary on that, as to how that is a manageable situation or not, as to whether or not --

MR. CHAN:  You mean as customers drop off, that pressure --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, with customers dropping off, demand disappears; is that the correct assumption?

MR. CHAN:  Yes, that's -- yes, you can say so, but the system is upset, and then it would take the entire system a period of time to readjust.  And then operations, a few personnel would have to go re-light, right, because it's not hearing -- getting phone calls that they are dropping off.

MR. GRAAT:  That would be the biggest disaster, if that situation happened, because let's say you had to shut off a thousand customers.  Well, to light up a thousand, you would have to shut everybody off, isolate the whole area, and hope the system would -- because you're shutting that part of the system down, would the rest of the system still operate properly, because it's so integrated?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess that's my question to Mr. Chan, to add that to the undertaking, a narrative around the practical ramifications of customers dropping off.

MR. GRAAT:  And then probably the tens of thousands of dollars to re-light this.  We would to have get --

MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess what I'm doing, Mr. Graat, is expanding the scope of the undertaking so that we can get that from Mr. Chan.


MR. GRAAT:  I'm just saying --


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I appreciate that.


MR. GRAAT:  -- it's a very difficult scenario to be able to manage if that ever should happen, and we should try to avoid that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, well, that narrative would be assisting, then.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just at this point might be appropriate -- Mr. Cowan, has the company identified the customers that might be affected?  Have you got a list of the customers that would be affected?  Have you done that?

MR. COWAN:  No, we have not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any reason why not?

MR. CHAN:  It was not part of my --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wasn't asking you, I was asking Mr. Cowan.

MR. COWAN:  Well --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  He runs the franchise.

MR. COWAN:  I guess probably the honest answer is, we never thought about it, because we are trying to avoid that potential in every possible way.  We don't want to expose ourselves to even a hundred people dropping off.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you conducted studies before this to assess that, or is this the first study that it occurred to you to run?

MR. COWAN:  I think it's the first study.

MR. GRAAT:  We've got a program that tells us where the weak spots are in the system, and we've overcome those weak spots by supplying -- by NRG Corp. supplying gas into certain areas.  I don't think that -- I think it would be the kiss of death for the company if we had to turn off a thousand customers because we couldn't supply them, so we don't even want to think about that scenario.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, that is the only scenario you're really presenting, isn't it?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we wouldn't know where they were so it's very difficult to ascertain those circumstances.  It depends on where the demand is, and so it's not a simple answer.  I think you would have to determine how to isolate the system and cut all those people off.  You know, it wouldn't be prudent to go to a --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I guess what I'm getting at, Mr. Graat -- you want to answer the question, so answer it.  We have a scenario where we have a minus-28-degree day, and we have -- part of the other part of the scenario is that all of the grain dryers in a particular area are operating at the same time, correct?  Now, I would have thought that the company had a very precise idea as to how many customers would be affected.

MR. GRAAT:  I believe that would be very difficult to ascertain.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Again, I welcome the technical response as part of your study, and is that that undertaking response, Mr. Chan?

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  May I continue, Mr. Somerville?

MR. KING:  When you asked Mr. Chan whether he could give the undertaking, he said "not right away".  I just want to understand how long "not right away" is.  Just, I'm thinking about argument schedule, quite frankly.

MR. CHAN:  I need to rerun the simulation and go back to my old data as well just to, you know, make sure I'm comfortable with the -- and then extract the numbers.  In terms of the number of customers dropping off, it could be a combination of, you know, looking at the map and also making sure the simulation numbers -- customer counts are there correct -- correctly.

MR. KING:  How long?

MR. CHAN:  I would need, given my other responsibilities, about a week to two, I would say.  Ten days on the outside.

MR. GRAAT:  I just want to add one more thing about this.  It's a safety valve to shut off the grain dryers.  The grain-drying season is very short.  Our customers don't want to be shut off.  They will go back to propane.  I guess maybe that is what they should do, you know, if they get shut off once.  They need a seamless procedure that they work.  When the corn is there, they need to dry it right away.  They work 24 hours a day, seven days a week.  They can't -- we can't say, We're going to shut you off in two or three days.  And we have to give them notice.

So that isn't really -- you know, that may be what everybody wants, but that isn't a practical solution running a business.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, just to interject on this point, on the last undertaking that was offered, or agreed to, we may want to add to that and refine that from the Board's perspective, and we'll do so after the break, and we'll take a look at what we've exactly asked for.

And to your point, Mr. King, I think what we'll need to do is entertain the notion of that undertaking coming in to allow the record to be complete before we get into the arguments on this.  I think we're on to an area which is of high interest to the Board here.

So what I'm getting at is, we will accommodate the schedule and keep in mind what the argument schedule is in relation to this undertaking and the speed at which it can be produced.

MR. KING:  Okay.  And, I mean, I don't know if you've had a chance to speak with Mr. Millar.  The timing of the argument schedule isn't an issue in the sense that getting the settlement agreement potentially approved is an issue, because that feeds into distribution rates, but the setting of, if this were resolved by way of setting a price, this -- the system integrity gas issue isn't -- doesn't impact the distribution rates at all.  It's a separate issue --


MR. MILLAR:  It's not time-sensitive.

MR. KING:  No, and the distribution rates can be set regardless of --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.  No, I think we're cognizant of that, and that allows us some flexibility to get the record to where we want it before we start argument.  So thank you, Mr. King, for pointing that out.

MR. MILLAR:  May I continue, please?  I'm nearly finished.  Just a quick follow-up on that discussion with the Board.  I understood, I think Ms. O'Meara indicated that currently NRG Limited is actually paying NRG Corp. more for gas than they are entitled to recover through rates; is that -- that correct?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The delta between the six-something versus the eight-something.

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm not sure if you can answer this, but would NRG continue to do that if necessity required?

MR. GRAAT:  We can't be -- I just want reiterate that we can't be in business, or I don't think anybody should expect us to be in business, to be in business to sell a product at a loss, because we're -- why would anybody do that?  So the answer would be no, because -- and it doesn't make any economic sense from the -- from Limited's point of view to go and put a pipeline in when they can buy the gas for one-eighth of the cost.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. --


MR. GRAAT:  That's sort of -- if I'm wearing the two hats, I have to just pull my hair out to try to figure out how that works.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chan, just one final area for you.  I think this will just take a moment.  I'm assuming that the scenario presented in your study didn't consider the possibility of other wells other than the five wells that were identified providing gas to the system.  That wasn't within the scope of your study.

MR. CHAN:  That's correct, in a way, but on the other hand it could have basically ran the simulation, all simulation runs, with other wells on as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you could have, but that wasn't -- that wasn't --


MR. CHAN:  For that particular day, January the 23rd, only those wells were on.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And to be clear, I'm not suggesting you did anything wrong there.  I'm just saying that your study included those five wells and did not look at other wells.

MR. CHAN:  (Nodding)

MR. MILLAR:  And from the purpose of the study, I assume it doesn't matter who owns the well; is that fair?

MR. CHAN:  It's more the location.

MR. MILLAR:  It's the location and how much gas it produces.

MR. CHAN:  And what size of pipeline or pipes are connected to those wells.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess my question is, it wouldn't necessarily have to be these five wells that are providing the gas.  It's possible there would be other wells that could serve the same function?

MR. CHAN:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chan, just to make sure I got an answer on the previous one - I'm not quite sure I did - I asked you about approaching Union Gas.  I understand you did not approach Union Gas to see if there's anything that can be done.  And is it your opinion, your expert opinion, that there is no solution through the Union system to this problem, by increasing pressures or something at those two stations?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct, at least not without installing new pipelines.

MR. MILLAR:  New pipelines.  Okay.

Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro?  I think we'll -- unless you're going to be three minutes or so -- how long would you -- do you think you'll be, just for after the break, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm guessing in the order of 15 minutes.  Nothing -- I'm not looking at an hour or 45 minutes.  Could be 15, it could go over, depending on how the exchange goes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Obviously you don't know at this time, but -- until Mr. Buonaguro goes ahead, but you'll have some redirect, Mr. King?

MR. KING:  Very short.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Very short?

(Hearing Panel confer)


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we, then, finish up?  What we will do is perhaps -- we'll see how far we get.  Perhaps we'll just take a short recess and come back and address the settlement issue, as opposed to taking the full lunch, and also contemplate the argument schedule, Mr. King.

MR. KING:  And any refinement to the undertaking?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Those three items?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

Go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro, and we'll see where we end up and we'll decide whether or not we need a full lunch or just a few minutes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


Good afternoon, panel.  At the risk of asking the obvious - and I've been listening with interest - my understanding is that in terms of what we're talking about in terms of system integrity gas and regular gas, there's no actual difference, other than the circumstances under which the gas is brought into the system; is that generally true?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that the only real difference between -- and specific to NRG's case, the difference between system integrity gas and regular gas is system integrity gas is the gas that is needed at any particular time in excess of the amount of gas that can be brought into the system from outside the system, i.e., the constraints that you're talking about in terms of the system integrity study limit the amount of gas that can be supplied outside the system, and right now the difference between what's needed and what can be supplied outside the system is being met by NRG Corp. because they have wells within the system that aren't subject to those restraints.

Is that basically true?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And I want to talk about the arrangement -- well, first, I just want to clarify a couple things about the study.  I'm not sure it's a hundred percent necessary to pull it up, but my understanding of the study is that it was based on -– and I'm quoting from page 3 of the study:

"The purpose of this study is to assess the existing NRG distribution system and identify viable alternatives to maintaining adequate system pressures with all existing well supplies removed from the system."

My understanding of that is that you are simply assuming there is no wells anywhere, NRG Corp. or anybody else, right?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So the study –- and this may be clear on the face of it.  I just want to confirm.  The study has nothing to do with looking at alternatives, alternative suppliers within the system, i.e., alternatives to NRG Corp.  It has to do with alternatives to internal well supply at all?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of the NRG Corp. arrangement, my understanding - and we've gone through K1.3 - my understanding from this morning's cross is that, well, first of all, there is no signed K1.3 equivalent that covers, for example, the current period; is that correct?  There's no contract in writing that looks like this?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the last time there was a signed contract that looked like this, it covered the 2008 to 2009 period?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we're talking about what exists in writing between NRG Corp. and NRG, the distribution company, with respect to the arrangements to supply any kind of gas, we're talking about the two letters that refer to -- are attached to OEB Interrogatory No. 23, a September 1st letter of 2009, which is basically a notice that they're not going to sell anything, and then the September 30th, 2009 letter, which says:  Okay.  You guys really need gas and you need it from us, so we're going to supply it under these terms.

Those are the two things in writing that set out the relationship between NRG Corp. and the distribution company, NRG?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.  Those are the things in writing to date.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To date?

MR. GRAAT:  Backed up by the original contract.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I understood in your testimony, you are saying in reality the terms of the agreement are identical to K1.3?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, the one that is signed; not this one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But the one that is signed has expired.  That's my part of my problem.  The one that –- there is one that exists --


MR. GRAAT:  We believe that this extends it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are treating the September 30th, 2009 letter as an extension of the signed copy of K1.3, which isn't on the record?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think there is an undertaking to get that on the record, is there?

MR. GRAAT:  I think we talked about it bringing it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think there's an actual undertaking, though, because -- the first undertaking was the one that he just asked.

MR. MILLAR:  Should we give it an undertaking?  Is that the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think so.  And if that is the evidence, is that that's the --


MR. GRAAT:  I believe that's it.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that's Undertaking J1.4, if I've kept that correct.  And that would be the executed copy for the previous year of K1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE AN EXECUTED COPY of the agreement FOR THE YEAR PREVIOUS TO EXHIBIT NO. K1.3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, just looking at K1.3, at page 5, article 3.01, even though the cover page of the agreement is dated October 1st, 2009, the price provision at 3.01 talks about the period from October 1st, 2008 to September 30th, 2009.


MS. O'MEARA:  I think I mentioned that earlier, that this was obviously a draft that was never done and --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I guess partly the date got changed, but not the term in that particular clause?

MS. O'MEARA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I guess because this was never actually executed, it maybe doesn't matter, other than to see what was happening at the time.

And then it has the -- the price is the same, 8.0431.  How far back does that price go?  Because I got the impression that that's been the price for more than the 2008 period, 2009 period, which it appears to clearly be.  And we're going to confirm that, because we're going to get that contract on the record.  But how far back does that price go?

MS. O'MEARA:  I think in tab 3, you can see the 2006 actual.  It looked to me like it was a different price back then.

[Witness panel confers]


MS. O'MEARA:  If you look at those schedules in tab 3, you'll see 2006 actuals, a different price.  And then you go to 2007, it's the .3012, 2008, it's the .3012, 2009, it's the .3012, and 2010 and 2011 have stayed the same.

So from this evidence, I'm gathering that the last time it was different was in 2006.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And can someone explain to me what happened in 2006 to change the price from the previous year to that year?

MS. O'MEARA:  I believe that the rates application --if I'm not correct, the last rates application, they had to come up with a methodology, -- is that correct, Richard?


MR. KING:  That's correct.


MS. O'MEARA:  A methodology for going forward, and that's when they came up with the methodology that is in place now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that's the methodology that wasn't -- actually been strictly applied?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then presumably it's in 2009 that NRG Corp. realizes that NRG Distribution doesn't want to pay the 8.0431 anymore - they are supposed to pay the methodology price - and produces the letter saying:  Well, if that's the case, we're not going to supply gas anymore?

MS. O'MEARA:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is it just a coincidence that the methodology that was created in 2006 –- and I'll use the words, spit out the 8.0431 per gigaJoule price, and that's 2006 -- happens to be the price that NRG Corp. –-

MS. O'MEARA:  No.  No, it did not spit out that price.

If you look at the -- it was in one of the appendixes at the rates application.  I'm not sure if it was in here.  The one that showed the difference between the methodology and the .3012, it was a different -- every single year there was a difference.

And I think we argued in hindsight, it's great, but we feel that that methodology was probably not the best way to go, simply because it really was not a true picture, because I think we also mentioned that if you were to take the -- the reason we were in an overpaying position was, if you go back to just the one month, if we had taken the full month, then we would have been in an underpaying position.

So because that 10 days could be so volatile, it's such a short period, it wasn't the best way to go.

But no, it did not spit out the number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  And I think you're referring to J1.12 as being the analysis of your position on the methodology, but when I asked the question of what caused the change from the previous price that was being paid to NRG Corp. to the current price in 2006, the answer was:  Well, the Board instituted a methodology change.

But now you are saying:  But the methodology didn't spit out that price.  So I'm wondering what did.

MR. GRAAT:  What is the question?  I'm sorry?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I started the series of questions with:  How far back does this 8.0431 price go?  The answer was:  Well, it goes back to 2006, because prior to 2006 there was a different price.

And I asked:  What caused the change in the price?  The answer was the change -- in 2006, the Board required a methodology for pricing the gas.  And then I assumed, incorrectly, that while -- in 2006 the methodology must have spit out the 8.0431 price, and the answer is, well, no, it didn't.  It spit out some other price.  So the question is still out there:  Well, if that's the case, then how did you end up with 8.0431 in 2006?

MR. GRAAT:  My understanding was that we -- my understanding was that we averaged out the price, the cost of the gas for the year, and that's how that number became the number, and it seemed like a reasonable number at the time.  At one time gas was selling for $14 in MCF.  And our price was -- stayed at 8, whatever it was, because we believed that price wasn't sustainable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you say you average out the price, do you mean you averaged out the market price?

MR. GRAAT:  The market price.  I understand that's what we did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You don't seem a hundred percent sure.  Is that something you want to take subject to check, or is that what happened?

MR. GRAAT:  Well...

MS. O'MEARA:  We've had a turnover in staff, and so on and so forth, so I'm not exactly sure if we would be able to.  I don't -- it could easily -- it could be they calculated the ten-day spread different than when we finally did it.  You know what I mean, like, when we did our analysis?  I mean, it's not --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Whatever it is, it's not based on the methodology that was supposed to be implemented in 2000 and --


MS. O'MEARA:  Well, that's what it looks like, because it doesn't agree --


MR. GRAAT:  I believe that -- I believe that it was.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, that it wasn't --


MR. GRAAT:  That it was.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- in accordance with the methodology that was required in 2006?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.  There was one time where the last ten days of the month where the price of gas fell out a bit at the end of September, and that put us over the allowable amount by about 50 or 60 cents in MCF.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think I understand that.

MR. GRAAT:  The price of gas was to be set the last 30 days of the contract, and that was September, so the price of gas was at $15 on September the 1st, and it was at $8 or $6 on September the 13th -- or September the 30th.  So --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you are saying that there happened to be a point in time right when you were --


MR. GRAAT:  Where there was a huge, huge drop in gas price --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Where the -- the use of the methodology spit out 8.0431.

MR. GRAAT:  That's what the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.

MR. GRAAT:  -- that was sort of what the number was.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

MR. KING:  Can I just -- I apologize, you lost me somewhere along the way, because I see the 30.12 cents per cubic metre in '07's actuals, through to the remainder of the schedules, through to the test year, and it's also the same price in the contract, the unsigned contract.  So what are you trying to reconcile that number with?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm trying to figure out when that number came into effect and how it did.  And so the answer I first got was, the methodology changed in 2006.  Then I got an answer that said, well, yes, the methodology changed, but that's not the number that it required.  Then I got, it was the average price over the year.  And then I got, well, actually, there was a point in time where the methodology actually spit out that price.

So as may be understandable, I'm a little bit confused about what actually happened, but I'm just trying to nail down -- the answer we're getting from NRG Corp. is that that's the price we need in order to not suffer a loss.  That's the price we need in order to pay -- to recover our costs of the gas with the included ROE, and anything less than that, we're going to shut down the wells.

MR. KING:  I understand that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I'm trying to figure out, well, if that's the case, well, where do we get that number from that meets all that criteria?

MR. KING:  Is the question whether the price on the 2007 actuals in evidence back from January of 2010, the 30.12 cents, whether that is compliant or non-compliant with the Board methodology established in the last rate case?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not specifically.  I'm just trying to find out the origin of the number that we're now fighting over, because the Board -- sorry, NRG Distribution and NRG Corp., by virtue of wanting to pay or obtain that price, is saying, This is the price that we need.  This is the price that we're going to get from NRG Corp.  NRG Corp. is saying, Well, and that's the price we need so to not suffer a loss.  And I want to know, well, where did that price come from?

MR. KING:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if it happens to be that the methodology spit it out in 2006, then that's the answer.  If the answer is something else - i.e., NRG Corp. put that price forward as its bottom line and the company accepted it - that's another answer.  I haven't got that answer yet.  I'm just trying to figure out what the answer is.

MR. KING:  I mean, I -- the interrogatory response that's found at tab 4 tells -- that was our answer at the time.  The methodology set for 2007 -- so this would be the fiscal year starting October 1, 2006 -- was established in accordance with the Board methodology established by the Board in the previous rate case, and then, as the IR explains, previous management didn't adjust that annually in accordance with the methodology, which was the average of a one-year strip, ten-day average, the last 20 days of September.

That was the mistake previous management -- and for the first few years that worked to the advantage of ratepayers, in that they were paying what the methodology would have spit out, and then following that it would have worked to the disadvantage of ratepayers, and that was the reason for the $97,000 rebate as part of phase 1 of this proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think the answer then is that the number did come out of the methodology at a certain point in time and was never updated.

MS. O'MEARA:  I -- exactly.  At a certain point in time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. O'MEARA:  I was just not sure when, because we've had a slight difference since then.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What do you mean by "a slight difference"?  That's...

MS. O'MEARA:  Well, we did that one appendix where he came up with the $97,000, and that's where you see there's been a difference.  We've been off on that .3012.  So I agree with the logic that, yes, at one point in time, whatever criteria -- methodology came up with the .3012.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. O'MEARA:  That might have been the prior year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So then -- okay.  I'll accept that.  So then that brings me to the question, though, so it just happens that the price that you're pursuing, the 8.0431 or something very close to it, was at some point in time spit out by the methodology, also happens to be the minimum that NRG Corp. says it needs in order to --


MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- make the appropriate return on its investment and recover its costs and things.

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, just staying with K1.3 for a second, which you're saying is essentially the agreement that governs the relationship between NRG Corp. and NRG Distribution -- or, sorry, NRG Limited, even though there is not a signed copy that covers the term -- the near term or the current --


MR. GRAAT:  There is one in London.

MS. O'MEARA:  For the 2008.  We've --


MR. BUONAGURO:  For the 2008.  I understand.

In reading through the document - and you'll appreciate I got it today - I don't see anything in here distinguishing system integrity gas or normal gas.  It's simply a contract for the supply of gas; is that fair?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And if I look at -- under Volumes, article 2.01 on page 4, it seems that the obligation is to the seller, which would be NRG Corp., to tender for sale gas produced from seller's wells, accepting such amounts of gas as required by seller to operate seller's gas wells, and then the -- on the other side, the buyer's obligated to basically buy as much of the gas as it can, and has capacity for; is that fair?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It sounds to me like the obligation on the seller is to sell everything you've got up to the point where the buyer can't buy any more.  Is that...?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, they're our only customer, so I guess, yes, that's what it would say.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Is NRG Corp. currently selling as much gas as it can produce to NRG --


MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.

MR. GRAAT:  No, it's producing 15 percent or something.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So it's not actually --


MR. GRAAT:  Not 15.  45 -- 40 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's operating at 40 percent capacity, I guess you're saying?


MR. GRAAT:  Well, sometimes it is.  Sometimes it's 60, sometimes it's 20.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Yeah.  But in all cases, at all times, it's well below maximum --


MR. GRAAT:  Well below.  It can maximize.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So technically you're not actually operating within the requirements of the --


MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- of the contract, assuming the contract applies.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you were talking to Mr. Millar generally about other well operators within the franchise area that could theoretically meet some, if not all, of the need for system integrity gas within NRG's distribution area.

MR. GRAAT:  I don't think anybody said that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I said you were talking theoretically about the possibility that somebody might.

MR. GRAAT:  Oh, well, we were -- I'm sure Union can.  We can't bring it to the right location.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I'm actually talking within the franchise area, talking about well operators within the franchise area who are connected to your system.  And I think, for example, you talked about a company called Metalore?  You talked --


MR. GRAAT:  They're not connected -- that's a -- that's a red herring.  They took -- we did a deal with them where we weren't taking the gas, we were transporting the gas for them into the Union system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm.  Right.

MR. GRAAT:  That's what we did.  So to that extent, yes, we bought gas, but we sold it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I understand.

MR. GRAAT:  And they paid us, like, 50 cents an MCF or something to transport it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The point there, I think, with the example was that NRG Corp. is not -- first of all, NRG Corp. is not the only company with wells in the franchise area that are connected to the system?

MR. GRAAT:  No, there's thousands of wells in the franchise area; not hundreds, thousands.

MR. BUONAGURO:  There's thousands?  And it's theoretically possible for at least some of these wells to supply gas to the system as system integrity gas?

MR. GRAAT:  I'm sure if you wanted to go to some farmer and spend a couple months with him, sweet-talk him and put in some pipeline for him, he would sell you the gas and then you could baby-sit him, every time you needed gas, every week if you call him and say:  How's the well doing, Jack.  Well, I think it's going to be okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which gets me to my point, which is that you're going to the conclusion, yes, that's all theoretically true, but in your opinion, none of them will provide the kind of service that NRG, the distribution company, is going to need or want?

MR. GRAAT:  NRG has, I think, has specifically drilled these wells to service the customers in that particular area in order to avoid -- for NRG Limited to avoid building a lot more pipeline.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you actually talked about, assuming that you get some kind of security on your price, drilling even more wells for future supply?

MR. GRAAT:  That would be our intent, or else we can't -- we have to keep growing if we're going to support NRG Limited.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Wouldn't that be an opportunity for other companies, as well?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, who would undertake such a program?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess we would have to ask, though, wouldn't we?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, you can go and ask them.  And we know who has all the land, and all the land that is there is generally not anywhere near the pipeline that we have.

So we know who can do it.  We know who the potential suitors are, but it's not practical because they don't have enough gas, and it's not in the right area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it may be the case that if you ask them -- and by asking I think we normally call that a request for proposal -- you may not get any tenders, for example?  That's possible?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, they would want a firm contract, and none of them can deliver a firm contract.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If -- let's assume that a firm contract is something that NRG requires.  Then if there are no companies that can actually provide a firm contract, they won't bid, will they?

MR. GRAAT:  We can buy all of the gas we need or that we -- all the gas from Union at the same price as we buy them from the farmers, or from the -- the wells currently in the area, but we need the gas in a very specific area, like a pipeline.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.  So there are specific requirements that would have to be met in order to -- anybody to meet the requirements of any particular tender?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it's possible that nobody could actually meet the requirements?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, you need some secure --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you are telling me that that's what you think is going to happen.

MR. GRAAT:  Well, I'm pretty sure that's what's going to happen, because they are not in the gas business.  They are in the farming business, most of them are.

And the ones that aren't are in the promotion business.  So they are not producers, they promote –- they make money drilling wells, not producing gas.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying that in your opinion, anybody that could compete with your company for this business wouldn't be able to?

MR. GRAAT:  It would be very, very difficult, because it wouldn't be big enough, probably, and wouldn't be reliable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. GRAAT:  It wouldn't have the same interests as Corp. has in Limited.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you don't actually speak for all these potential companies.

MR. GRAAT:  I don't think there's that many.  I think there are maybe three, maybe two or three.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You were talking briefly about Metalore, and this particular example stuck in my head because you were talking about -- they would require a 30-day --

MR. GRAAT:  That's --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you mentioned it specifically.  I want to ask you about that.  What was that about?  You said they require a 30-day --

MR. GRAAT:  Metalore is in the money-making business, not to supply gas to NRG Corp., and if they can get it 50 cents more or 25 cents more from somebody else, they're going to say goodbye to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you specifically said they require a 30-day notice period to get out.

MR. GRAAT:  That's what I'm saying.  They would have to have a -- they would want a notice clause in their deal, so they can dump you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you don't think that's reasonable?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, what are we going to do, then, if we need the gas and we've already relied on it?  I mean, that's the whole difficulty here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I take you to page 4 -- no, page 6 of K1.3, clause 5.01?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  "Term of Agreement," and there it says:

"The seller retains the right upon 30 days' notice to terminate this agreement at any time prior to the expiry date."

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So NRG Corp. has, under the agreement, which you say is binding on them –-

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- the ability to terminate on 30 days' notice?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just like you were just complaining about Metalore wanting.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably, that's because NRG Corp. is also in the money-making business?

MR. GRAAT:  NRG would take that clause out if it had a reasonable arrangement with NRG Limited, but we need a clause in there in order to protect ourselves, in case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So you are saying that if NRG Corp. was going to respond to a tender, that I seem to be pushing, one of the things you would do to make your tender more attractive is to take out a notice clause?

MR. GRAAT:  If we could make an arrangement with Limited where there was no claw-back, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Because that would presumably -- you would try to structure an arrangement that's going to beat the other bids, if there were any, presumably?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, but the other guys don't have the gas in the right area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In which case their bids won't be attractive, right?

MR. GRAAT:  Then that's the answer, then, I guess.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar was taking the panel through some examples with respect to grain dryers.  And I think he was taking –- and maybe I misunderstood -– he was taking you through scenarios where the grain dryers might be shut off?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you were saying that while -- we don't want to do that, and we would have to -- we can't just do that to them, because they are operating their business 24 hours and -- do you remember that?

MR. GRAAT:  They have a short window of when they dry corn, and they can't be interrupted.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But they are an interruptible rate class?

MR. GRAAT:  Some of them are, but you wouldn't want to do that.  You do that for insurance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just trying to figure out what is the point of having an interruptible rate class if you're never going to interrupt them.

MR. GRAAT:  If everything else fails and that pressure drops in any certain areas, we have to do everything we can to minimize the damage, and that would be one of them.  It would be force majeure.  We would do whatever we needed to do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are saying in the context of NRG, you're saying that --

MR. GRAAT:  Limited.

MR. BUONAGURO:  NRG Limited, that although you have an interruptible rate class who specifically gets, presumably, reduced rates in exchange for being susceptible to interruption at any particular time of the year, that there is a requirement or an obligation on NRG Limited to obtain system integrity gas at the expense of the rest of the system, in order to avoid interruption?

MR. GRAAT:  Are we talking about the grain dryers? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, the ones that are interruptible.

MR. GRAAT:  We can shut off anybody.  We can force majeure anyone:  I have no gas to sell.  I'm sorry.  We can shut off everybody; we just have to isolate the system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just to --

MR. GRAAT:  No, but you've got to know how the business runs.  Forget about interruptible or uninterruptible.  It's all interruptible when we don't have the gas and we can't service the company, or the business is in jeopardy.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Graat, I think the question is around rate classes, and not the physics that you are speaking of.  I think Mr. Buonaguro's point is on the rate class, and what does that rate class enjoy or not enjoy as an interruptible class.

And I think it's -- let's not confuse that with the physics issue.

MR. GRAAT:  They get a small discount for interruptible, but it's still a big number, bigger number than anybody else pays.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What's the threshold -- I'm sorry I'm not familiar with the intricacies of the interruptible rate class and the whole -- all the requirements around it, or the obligations or the liabilities, i.e., I don't know off the top of my head under what conditions you are allowed or required to interrupt their service.

MR. GRAAT:  We can interrupt anybody for any reason.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then while --

MR. GRAAT:  And face the consequences.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But there is a specific class called an interruptible rate class, which --

MR. GRAAT:  Interruptible rate means you've got to give them notice, and it goes on and on and on how it works.  So it's not just saying:  We are not going to -- 

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's what I'm asking --

MR. GRAAT:  -- gas to you at 10 o'clock tomorrow morning.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What kind of notice is required to interrupt a --

MR. GRAAT:  Well, a reasonable notice, whatever the courts would determine if they weren't happy with the notice they got.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Graat, I think just to allow for some clarity in the answers here, I think Mr. Buonaguro is focusing his questions on the differentiating factors between an uninterruptible rate class and all others.

You are going to a force majeure, which may be a blanket situation where there isn't a need for these reasonable notices and what have you.

I take it, Mr. Buonaguro, that you are looking for a class allocation or something along that line, as to what is tracking in that interruptible class as far as the expectations of activities from the entity that is supplying service?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I don't think it gets down to the level of cost allocation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The record does contain rate number 5, interruptible peaking contract.

MR. GRAAT:  Was it five?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And there are terms and conditions associated.

MR. GRAAT:  Five customers that are in an interruptible situation. 

MS. O'MEARA:  I think it is five.


MR. GRAAT:  Five.


MS. O'MEARA:  I think what you are asking is the intricacies of the rate class and what conditions are in there.  We can -- I mean, Mr. Graat is talking in generality, but we can -- I think it's in the draft rate order specifically what's in there, and the rate schedules.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think Mr. Sommerville has it.  It's rounded up, I think.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, my line of questioning came out of the cross-examination of Mr. Millar talking about significant differences between the requirements of the system for system integrity gas when you are worried about keeping everybody on, versus this scenario 2 which you produced, which Mr. Chan produced today, which presumes that you are going to interrupt the grain dryers.

MS. O'MEARA:  I think Mr. Chan did a simulation --


MR. GRAAT:  We have to --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. O'MEARA:  -- with the grain dryers off, and it --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. O'MEARA:  -- produced the same results with the grain dryers on.  Well, not the same results, but a slight improvement; right?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And just in terms of --


MS. O'MEARA:  There's no --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- degree, and so I was just exploring under what conditions they could actually be turned off.  And I appreciate Mr. Sommerville has pointed me to say, well, that particular evidence is in the record, in terms of what the conditions are.  So I can leave it at that.  Thank you.

Just lastly -- and this is a question for NRG Corp.  My understanding is that any price below the 8 -- and I don't have it --


MR. GRAAT:  48, I think it --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- 8.0431 that's in the contract is a cost that will not allow NRG Corp. to recover its fair costs and presumably an appropriate return on its equity?

MR. GRAAT:  If we were to replace the gas that we are selling less than that, it would cost us at least that much to replace it.  So that's sort of the long and short of it.  Forget about what we have in the ground.  That's already there.  We've got to replace it with something, because once it's gone it's gone forever.  So your replacement cost is really what you are talking about.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Doesn't anybody who sells gas have a replacement cost when they sell gas?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, they -- in order to stay in business, you know, they have to keep replenishing their --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm -- there's a market price for gas, and sometimes the market price is below the $8.43.

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And so people are -- so if it's a market price, that means somebody out there is selling it for less than 8.043.

MR. GRAAT:  Some people -- some people have to sell gas, because they -- some big companies are trying to get rid of gas, because they're going from gas to oil, so they dump the gas at any price.  That's why the price of gas is low.  There's been huge shale-gas exploration programs going everywhere in North America, and it's flooding the market.  But once all that sort of dissipates and slows down there will be a shortage of gas.  Like, these are --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  In which case the market price will go up.

MR. GRAAT:  That market price should go up.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And presumably if the market price right now was $15 relative to the $8 that's in the contract, at this particular point in time none of this would be an issue, because he would want the market price anyway.

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we would rather get the 15, but our contract says we can only have 10.

MS. O'MEARA:  Between the 8 --


MR. GRAAT:  Between 8 and 10.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The proposal says 8 to 10.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  One last question, or one last little issue.  In the original -- and I won't take you to the cite, but in the original argument-in-chief of the company, NRG Limited, and in the -- I think it's the response to Undertaking J1.12 from the original oral hearing, the proposal was -- the first part of the proposal was identical.  It was the 8.486 per metre cubic whenever the market price for natural gas is 9999 per MCF or less, and then -- but there was a second part there, which was that the market price for natural gas when gas is $10 or more, which is your current proposal, right?

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But there was a second part to that, which was that with respect to non-integrity gas it would be the market price.

MR. GRAAT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I understanding -- I think it's from today's testimony and from the cover letter to the book -- that that is not the proposal anymore?

MR. GRAAT:  The proposal -- if we're going to continue our arrangements with NRG Limited, we need to know that we're going to be paid for the gas that we have and the gas that we sell.  So in order to do that, in order to increase our production, we have to know that we're going to be able to sell that gas at a profit.  So you can say is it the new gas or it's the old gas?  So, that we're charging -- that we want to charge the 8.40 for -- or 8.42, whatever the number is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I mean, and -- but my question is not about new gas or old gas.  My question is about distinguishing system integrity gas and non-system integrity gas, which is what your original submission, NRG Limited's submission, and the original undertaking response distinguished.

MR. GRAAT:  Well, we're past that.  We're past that now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Because now NRG Corp. is saying, Well, hold on a second.  If we're going to supply any gas, it's going to be the floor of 8.4 --


MR. GRAAT:  A year and a half has gone by, or almost two years, since we started to talk about this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So the market price for non-system integrity related gas is no longer appropriate for NRG Corp.

MR. GRAAT:  The price will have to be at the 8.40 under the same formula as that's in the contract.

MS. O'MEARA:  There's basically no disparity between the system gas and non-system integrity gas --


MR. GRAAT:  And new gas.

MR. O'MEARA:  -- so it would be all gas --


MR. BUONAGURO:  In the proposal.  When you say no disparity, there's --


MS. O'MEARA:  In the new -- yes, in the new proposal.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, am I -- did I miss something, or is that new proposal effective yesterday?  I just want to make sure I didn't miss anything, in terms of notice of the proposal.  I may have.

MR. GRAAT:  We're into the fall, so we need all the gas we can use, so it's not an issue for three or four or six months.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think Mr. Buonaguro is pointing to the proceeding.  Is there any time earlier in this proceeding that that new proposal was made?

MR. GRAAT:  Was vetted --


MS. O'MEARA:  Well, we've only used system integrity gas up until now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But there was a proposal on the record both in undertakings and in argument that non-system integrity gas supplied to NRG Limited from NRG Corp. would be priced at market price, and my understanding - and again, I could be wrong - is that effective the cover letter to the book of authorities that was supplied yesterday, that proposal is no longer on the table.


The proposal is if NRG Corp. sells any gas at any time for any reason to NRG Limited, it's got to be at the floor of 8.486, and then up to 9999, and then market price after that.

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And my only point is that proposal, which is different than what was in the argument and the undertaking, is first being presented, certainly to me, and presumably to the Board -- 


MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- effective yesterday.

MS. O'MEARA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to make sure I didn't miss something.

MR. GRAAT:  That's because we have offered primary drivers, we've offered to drill more wells in the area to ensure the integrity of the system, and we need to be paid for that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I keep saying last question.  But last-last question.  My understanding is what you are saying is that 8.48 -- 8.4 -- 8.486 is the price that NRG Corp. needs to make a suitable profit.

MR. GRAAT:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At what point do you stop making a suitable profit?  Is there some -- any number below that, or is it exactly 8.486?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, if you put no value on the 30 years that we've been in business, then I guess you could sell it for $3 an MCF and make money, because there's no debt and it's all paid for.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So at $3 NRG Corp. makes a profit?

MR. GRAAT:  Maybe it's $1.50, but it's not for sale.  It's only for sale at the number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I ask because in your earlier testimony you were saying, We would lose money if we made less than that.  We need that to recover the money.


MR. GRAAT:  Well, we would, because we have to replace that gas, and it cost probably more than 8.60 to make a viable business decision to drill more gas, drill more wells.  So you can't say, I'll sell all this cheap stuff, and then if the price ever goes up I'll sell all the stuff that I've just discovered.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I understand that correctly, in terms of purely making a profit on the sale of that particular gas at that particular time, the profit is actually -- you would make a profit, even at something like $3 a gas, but you are not going to sell it, because you want --


MR. GRAAT:  No, we need.  We need, because we're not in business to subsidize something.  If you had a house for sale, and if you waited another two years it would triple in value, would you sell it today because -- no.  If you were a businessman or a real-estate guy you would wait and say, I'll rent it or I'll keep it there.  I'll, board it up, do whatever, pay the hydro and the taxes and the upkeep, and away you go, and that's what we're doing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because you're not in a position to have to sell it?


MR. GRAAT:  Well, no.  We'll have to find another way out of that mess, then, and go and borrow the money and leave it in the ground if -- but the fact of the matter is no, we don't want to sell that gas.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, thank you.

Mr. Sommerville, do you have some --

Questions by the Board


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just really a clarification, Mr. Chan, so that we understand very clearly the scope of your work, what you produced here. 

As I understand it, the marching orders that you had with respect to your system integrity study was to the effect that if all of the -- or one element of it was that if all of the NRG Corp. gas was removed from the system, was not available to the system, what was the viability of the system under those circumstances.

And the results of your study is that to the extent that there are occasions when you are at a minus-28-degree day situation, and all of the heavy load is fully operational, and none of the interruptible provisions are in place, that there was a localized area just south of the municipality of Aylmer which would suffer a low-pressure situation that you would regard as being problematic.

Is that accurate?

MR. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, did you in any degree - and I may be going over ground that others have gone over, but just to be clear - you did not actually contact Union Gas in order to determine whether the augmentation of the system by Union Gas would alleviate some of that difficulty.  You didn't make any conversations --


MR. CHAN:  I did not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You didn't make any study with respect to that?

MR. CHAN:  That is correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And your opinion, to the extent that it covers this ground, has got to be coloured to some extent by the idea that you didn't have discussions of that nature with Union Gas; is that fair?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, did you also have conversations with any other producers within the area, gas producers, as to the availability of gas from their locations, at whatever price and under whatever circumstances?  You didn't have any discussions with them about the contribution of gas that they may be able to provide in order to address the circumstances?

MR. CHAN:  No, I did not.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So your opinion to the extent -- is limited by -- to that extent, as well, that you didn't talk to any other producers with respect to their contribution to the system; is that fair?

MR. CHAN:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Graat, just a sort of final follow-up for you, and that is:  Do the producers within the area, within your franchise area, do they sell their gas to anybody?  Are they selling gas?  Is there a trade in gas in --


MR. GRAAT:  Some of the people -- a couple of them are selling gas into the Union system.  And some of them have got their gas shut in.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  But there is a trade in gas, as we speak, from wells that are operating outside of the NRG Corp. system?  There is a sale of gas to other people; is that fair?

MR. GRAAT:  Only to Union.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Only to Union?

MR. GRAAT:  Or the individual is using it for his farm or his grain house or whatever he's --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So they use it for themselves?

MR. GRAAT:  For themselves, yes.  

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand that over the last five years, you've effectively doubled the number of wells that you have in service; is that -–

MR. GRAAT:  Pretty well, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  Is that that you got out and buy rights?

MR. GRAAT:  Lease the land.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To drill over areas that you --


MR. GRAAT:  Where we think that there's a prospect that would be in the proper area, in the right area for NRG Limited to use.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So the right area that you pick, the acreage that you talked about, that you've acquired rights over, happens to be the area that you have identified as being of particular relevance to the NRG Limited operation?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The franchise?

MR. GRAAT:  To a large extent.  That's because you need a pipeline, and...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you secure exclusive rights within that acreage?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, you sign a five-year lease, and you pay a lease rate for five years.  Then if you don't drill, then you lose the right to the land, and then you pay them anywhere from a five to seven to 12-and-a-half percent royalty.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And if you do drill --


MR. GRAAT:  The royalty starts.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The royalty starts, and the royalty just flows --


MR. GRAAT:  Yeah, the lease payment stops and the royalty starts.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, do you sell gas to anybody else?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you sell gas to Union?

MR. GRAAT:  No.  Well -– no.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you sell gas to any other person?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So NRG Corp. is entirely dedicated, all of the production of NRG Corp., all of the gas production, every molecule of gas that you produce, goes into the NRG Limited system; is that right?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the only sale that you undertake?

MR. GRAAT:  Well, I believe at one time when the gas was $14, we moved some gas in the Union system, because Limited was only paying us 8.50.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So when was that?

MR. GRAAT:  It's five or seven years ago.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So when gas reaches a certain price point, you'd start to divert gas from your system to --


MR. GRAAT:  We did.  That was just the one-time deal.  I don't know whether we would do that again, because it's a very difficult procedure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You've indicated that you operate for a profit, and if the price was right, you would do it?

MS. O'MEARA:  We had to pay a third party, Greentree, for transportation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's how that happens, so there's a transportation -–

MR. GRAAT:  There was a -- the price was right, but when you went through all the motions and all the aggravation and the shortness of the delivery, then it wasn't worth it, so --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. GRAAT:  So we did something with Greentree.   They said:  We can move some gas for you.  Well, it ended up that we sent them all the gas, and they didn't pay us.  So that wasn't a very good --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, that wasn't a very good deal.

MR. GRAAT:  So anyway, there's -- when you start doing something that you don't do every day, it's fraught with problems, and unfortunately dealing with multiple suppliers is very difficult.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CHAN:  Mr. Sommerville, may I make a couple of supplemental comments?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

MR. CHAN:  When I did my study, yes, it's true I did not contact Union Gas for the reason that I ran numerous simulations and preliminary simulations.  And it was quite obvious that there's nothing Union Gas could do with the existing system that would help, that is at least not without having, you know -- installing new pipelines, because the existing lines, three-inch, four-inch, coming out of their system –- or I should say inter-connecting stations, just is not going to cut it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King, any redirect? 
Re-Examination by Mr. King


MR. KING:  Just a couple of questions.  Mr. Buonaguro took you to section 5.01 of the contract that was supplied today, which is the 30-day termination clause.

Was that clause in previous contracts, do you know?  Has Corp. always had a 30-day termination rate?

MR. GRAAT:  I believe so, yes.

MR. KING:  Has Corp., to your knowledge, ever sought to exercise that?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. KING:  Has -- the record contains, towards the end of tab 4, that the two letters from September 2009, when I'll say the issue came to light, the system integrity, apart from that exchange in September 2009, has Corp. ever gone to NRG and said:  We won't supply?

MR. GRAAT:  No.

MR. KING:  And then finally, there was some discussion today about trying to get some parameters around when system integrity gas would be needed, and there was discussion about cold snaps that come early and grain drying that goes late, to coincide with the cold season, et cetera.

Would there ever be a point in time where system integrity gas is needed in, let's say, May?

MR. GRAAT:  It could happen.  It could happen, but you could be -- you could have met your volumes that you're obliged to purchase from Union, and had a couple of days that the usage, the gas volume would spike, and you would be down for a couple hundred or $300,000.

MR. KING:  So that would be --


MR. GRAAT:  If you could infuse some gas from the wells, you might be able to avoid most of that problem.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. King, I've been reluctant to do this, but I'm going to, and I'll offer you an opportunity to redirect after your redirect.  I just want some clarification on that last comment by Mr. Graat.

So we've had a lot on the record today about the system integrity being about a physical requirement, and the loss of ability to deliver adequate pressures to keep customers on the system.  You've just reiterated - and it's not first time; it was mentioned earlier, but I just want to make sure we're clear here - that you also considered system gas to be one of a financial benefit to the system in avoidance of costs, of transmission costs, from Union; is that...?

MR. GRAAT:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. KING:  I think those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Okay.  It's a quarter after 1:00 now.  We will return.  We've got a few items, obviously, more than just a -- in passing.  We will come back and deal with the settlement proposal as presented this morning.  Also, we're going to consider the undertaking as it currently stands and augment that if we feel it's necessary after some consideration.  We'll take a look at what the undertaking is now, take a look at that.  And also, the -- and we'll talk about the argument schedule as well.  So if you want to give some consideration to that while we break at the same time.

I will in advance suggest that we are likely to want argument and, unless we hear different, that that coincides with the full record, and to the extent that, Mr. King, if you feel that you would be prepared to present argument-in-chief after that production of that undertaking, that's -- I think the Board would be amendable to that, and then we'll follow a schedule after that.  I think it's important that we have a full record before we start into this, for obvious reasons.

So having said that, why don't we break until ten to 2:00, and then we'll wrap things up for the day.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 1:18 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:57 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please be seated.

First off, with respect to the settlement agreement, and based on the clarifications that were provided on the record this morning, the Board accepts the settlement proposal as presented.

We also note that there may be submissions on the draft Rate Order that deal with the implementation of the settlement agreement, and as is usually the case, the Board will respond, if necessary, to anything that comes to light through that process.

As to the undertaking that Mr. Chan -- or the applicant undertaking to Mr. Chan, that was accepted earlier, we want to ensure that we are getting as many -- taking advantage of a model being in place, and running scenarios that we think are germane to the issue at hand here.


We would like to have you also, in addition to what was originally requested, which was an assessment of numbers and quantums, data around number of customers, but in addition to that, and the scenarios that would also allow us to take a look at alternatives to supply from a – and I'll put it crudely - to demand response, in that we have uninterruptible class of customers.

Are there other scenarios that's could be brought to bear that could also deal with a shortcoming of supply from that perspective, whether or not that's a –- if a group of customers can be identified, and they're all alternatives to system supply that could be identified in a -- and I recognize this isn't going to be with the -– I'll ask for Mr. Sommerville to comment, as well.  We're not looking for a level of precision here that's going to have to drive an extended study of exactly the nature of each customer's use.  But in general respect, what alternatives would be available as an alternative to supply, to remedy the situation of the low pressures in certain zones?

We also have the opportunity, while we're looking at this -- is to also -- I take it the model would be capable of simulating supply points that aren't currently in existence, much closer to the problem, and some simulation of that types of supply and the nature of supply that would be required on the existing system, that could also remedy the problem that's been identified.

And lastly, to ensure that the inter-ties with Union have been modelled to operate at their fullest capacity.  This is in response to your testimony that there wasn't a direct contact with Union as to what their system could supply.  We are interested in knowing whether or not the model has maximized output that Union could supply at those inter-ties, and what does that do for the system.

I think, Mr. Sommerville, if I've captured our -- 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What we notice, Mr. Chan, is that the shortfall is quite small, quite marginal, and that looking at some of these alternatives as to how to address the system integrity shortfall, how these other scenarios might play into that.  Thank you. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  One moment.

[Board Panel confers]


MR. QUESNELLE:  So that takes care of the undertaking, Mr. Chan.  If that is clear on the record and if there are no questions on that, that is something we would like to augment the undertaking with.

I'll circle back in a moment when we get to the argument schedule whether or not this new parameters of the undertaking alter what I believe you may have discussed at the break, as far as argument schedule goes.  We'll visit that in a moment. 

Before we get to the argument schedule, which I think is the only other outstanding item, something that the Board would be interested in having addressed in argument is the issues around the impact that the supplemental gas, system integrity gas, however we quantify it -- because we've heard this morning and it's been reinforced that -- from what we've heard this morning that the NRG Limited, may be for its ratepayers benefiting from a cost avoidance from a transportation perspective, and that that is played into the cost-benefit as well.

The Board is interested in hearing argument on what the long-term perspective may be in the absence of the system integrity or supplemental gas, what long-term effect that would have on NRG Limited from a perspective of enduring those same savings or those transportation costs.  What we're looking for is the mechanism; how does that transportation cost avoidance, how would that play out on a long-term basis?  If there's questions for clarity, I'll certainly accept them, Mr. King.

MR. KING:  The only question I have is Mr. -- we've only referenced it in terms of a benefit.  I think the first time was Mr. Cowan, in either hearing or the phase 2 technical conference -- I can't remember which.  It's in here.  Where he mentioned Union -- having to take less from Union Gas, essentially like an LDC having domestic generation lowering transmission tariffs for your customers, right?  It's exactly the same concept.

I don't know that we've ever put numbers around it.  So if you're asking for long-term impacts, are you talking about --


MR. QUESNELLE:  What I think the level of granularity or how far we want to go into this -- because we recognize we're at the argument stage here -- we're looking for directional impacts on this, and we'll take whatever we can from it.  Obviously we're not asking for new evidence here.

But to the extent that -- and the claim has been made that there is a benefit to the customer in the avoidance of those costs.  And if that could be articulated in the argument as to what that notion represents and whether or not it is an enduring benefit, understanding how those tariffs are designed over a long term and how there may be existing usage that is used to derive the forward costs of those tariffs.

MR. KING:  There is -- yes, that's the difference with electricity.  There is an enduring benefit in gas, not in electricity.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If you could articulate that and describe it in such detail in the argument that leads to a directional impact.  We're not looking for the actual quantum on this, but then it would at least give, I think, the other parties an opportunity to understand what was put forward as a benefit to the ratepayers in this perspective, and whether or not it's something that we can make determinations on now, or whether or not we should consider it.  So I think the fact that it's become at play, and to the degree that it has, we would benefit from argument on it. 

The only other thing would be the actual schedule, and with the caveat, again, we made some additions to the undertaking.  If that -- we're willing to hear from parties as to what they see as an appropriate and acceptable schedule.

MR. MILLAR: Mr. Chair, we had put together a draft schedule, but it was premised on the understanding that Mr. Chan could provide the undertaking responses, I think, a week Friday, being December 7th.

And then Mr. King would file his argument-in-chief December 10th now.

MR. KING:  I thought I was on Tuesday, the 13th.

MR.SOMMERVILLE:  The 10th is a Saturday.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I guess what remains to be seen is if Mr. Chan could still provide us with the undertaking response on the date he thought he could previously.  So I don't know if you need some time to discuss that, or...

MR. CHAN:  I need another week.

MR. QUESNELLE:  With that adjustment, Mr. Millar, do you have any actual dates that we could --


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I do.  They are sort of built around Christmas to some extent.  What I could do for you is simply add seven to everything we have here and see how that works.  Unfortunately, we may have to take this away, Mr. Chair, and issue a short procedural order or something, unless we wanted to take a few minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  As was discussed earlier, that the actual rates in the settlement proposal has been agreed to, I think we can move ahead, obviously, in parallel with the draft rate order process, so we will be issuing a procedural order to deal with that issue.  I don't think we've dealt with that beyond today's hearing date in our procedural orders, so in that we have to issue a procedural order to deal with the filing a draft rate order and what have you, why don't we off-line come up with a schedule that seems to be workable, Mr. Millar, and we'll add that detail to the procedural order.

MR. MILLAR: Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Boxing Day will be good enough.  

[Laughter]

MR. KING:  Just for Mr. Chan's report.  

[Laughter]

MR. QUESNELLE:  True enough.

Well, I thank the witnesses.  Thank you very much for appearing today, and I appreciate your efforts, as well as the other parties.  And with that we are adjourned.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:08 p.m.
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